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LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

MALDIVES MONETARY AUTHORITY
Malé, Republic of Maldives

Dear Mr. President,

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of Maldives Monetary Authority Act (1981), | have the honour to
submit the Annual Report of the Maldives Monetary Authority for 2009, which includes a copy of the
Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December 2009, audited by the External Auditor, Ernst &
Young.

Yours sincerely,

Fazeel Najeeb
Governor

H.E. Mohamed Nasheed,

President of the Republic of Maldives,
Office of the President,

Malé.
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PREFACE

This report presents the financial statements of the MMA as required by the MMA Act (1981). In
addition, it presents an overview of the domestic economy during the year. All analyses are based on
information relating to the year 2009, received from relevant government authorities, financial sector
agencies, public enterprises and other private sector sources, as at end of February 2010. The views
expressed in this Report, however, are those of this Authority and do not necessarily represent those of
the source of data. We thank all those who have contributed to the publication of this report including
the provision of the information contained herein.
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ACU
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LIST OF ACRONYMS

Asian Clearing Union

Asian Development Bank

Attorney General’s Office

Bank of Maldives Plc

Credit and Bank Supervision Section
Consultative Group to Assist the Poor
Consumer Price Index

Certificate of Deposits

Corporate Division

Economic Research and Statistics Division
Exogenous Shocks Facility

Financial Sector Reform and Strengthening
Free on Board

Gross Domestic Product

Habib Bank Ltd

Housing Development Finance Corporation Plc
Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
International Finance Corporation
Information Technology Division
International Monetary Fund

Reserve Money

Maldives Finance Leasing Company Pvt Ltd
Maldives Monetary Authority

Mauritius Commercial Bank Ltd

Monetary Policy Committee

Monetary Policy and Research Division
Ministry of Finance and Treasury

Mobile Phone Banking Project

Minimum Reserve Requirement

Public Non-Financial Enterprises

Rufiyaa

Research and Publications Section
Research Fund

Stand-by Arrangement

State Bank of India

Special Drawing Rights

State Electric Company Ltd

South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation
State Owned Enterprises

State Trading Organisation Plc

Treasury Bills

Treasury Bonds

Open Market Operations
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OVERVIEW OF THE ECONOMY IN 2009

Since the second half of 2008 the domestic
economy became increasingly affected by the
global downturn mainly due to a decline in
tourist arrivals and a reduction in financial
inflows. As a result, real Gross Domestic
Product (GDP) is estimated to have contracted
by 3.0 percent in 2009 with the tourism and
construction sectors being the hardest hit.

The tourism sector which contributes 28
percent of GDP and 74 percent of exports of
goods and service was badly affected by the
global recession. Given that the bulk of visitors
to Maldives originate from Europe (70 percent)
—the worst affected by the global downturn—
tourist arrivals recorded a sharp contraction of
around 10 percent in the first half of 2009.
However, buttressed by buoyant arrivals from
Asian markets, especially since mid 2009, the
domestic tourism sector appeared more
resilient to the global downturn than was
initially anticipated. Overall for 2009, the
tourism sector recorded a decline of 4 percent
with capacity utilization in resorts/hotels
declining from 78 percent in 2008 to 70
percent. The decline in capacity utilization
partly reflects the 5 percent increase in the bed
capacity during the year.

The domestic construction sector which has
recorded rapid rates of growth in the last 5 to 6
years almost came to a halt in 2009. Followed
by double digit growth rates, the sector is
estimated to have contracted sharply by 16
percent in 2009 due to delays in major resort
development projects owing to declines in
capital inflows.
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The fisheries sector which is the second main
sector of the economy in terms of foreign
exchange earnings and employment has been
performing poorly since 2007. Total fish
landings have been on a prolonged decline
since the last half of 2006 and fell significantly
by 22 percent in 2009 from 131.73 thousand
metric tonnes in 2008 to 102.59 thousand
metric tonnes in 2009. This was partly
influenced by the high cost of fuel while certain
environmental factors have also been blamed
for the sustained low catch. Reflecting the poor
catch the volume of fish exports (excluding live
fish) fell by 37 percent (or 23.20 thousand
metric tonnes) in 2009 while fish export
earnings registered a substantial decline of 40
percent (or USS48.77 million) during the year.
The decline in exports earning also reflects the
decline in unit prices received.

Balance of payments and gross international
reserves

With the fall in global demand, total exports of
goods and services to the Maldives are
estimated to have declined by 22 percent in
2009 mainly due the decline tourist arrivals.
Meanwhile, total imports (f.o.b.) which grew
rapidly in 2008, owing to sharp increases in
global commodity prices and the strong
domestic demand, declined in 2009. Total
imports registered a sharp contraction of 30
percent in 2009 reflecting weaker domestic
demand, the decline in commodity prices and
foreign  exchange shortages. Meanwhile,
remittance outflow by foreign workers, which
had grown rapidly in the last couple of years,
also plummeted in 2009 due to a moderation in
expatriate employment reflecting the slump in
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construction activity. With the sharp decline in
imports more than offsetting the fall in export
receipts, the current account deficit registered
an improvement of about 29 percent of GDP in
2009.

On the financing side, net financial inflows to
the country are estimated to have declined
substantially by 29 percent in 2009, mainly due
to a sharp fall in private capital inflows and a
further reduction in commercial bank
borrowings. The high current account deficit of
the past several years combined with the recent
reduction in financial inflows resulted in acute
reserve losses during 2008-2009. As such, gross
international reserves fell from 3.4 months of
imports in 2007 to 2.1 months at the end of
2008. Nonetheless, with the recent financial
support provided by multilateral—including
financial support from the International
Monetary Fund (IMF)—and bilateral creditors,
gross international reserves improved to 3.2
months of imports at the end of 2009.

Inflation

Due to the high import orientation of the
economy, developments in the domestic
Consumer Price Index (CPl) during 2007 and
2008 were largely influenced by international
price movements. The rate of inflation (moving
average of CPI-Male’) rose rapidly from 6.8
percent at the end of 2007 to 12.04 percent at
the end 2008 mainly reflecting the sharp
increases in global food and fuel prices since
mid 2007. High global prices also had second-
round impacts on domestic inflation through
increases in  wages and inflationary
expectations. The high budget deficit and
monetary accommodation of the fiscal deficit
also contributed to inflationary pressures during
the period. However, the rate of inflation began
to ease in 2009 mainly reflecting the
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moderation in global commodity prices and fell
to 4.5 percent at the end of December 2009.

Fiscal Developments

In 2009 the global financial and economic crises
caused a worsening of an already frail fiscal
situation that was caused by highly
expansionary fiscal policies of the past,
particularly since the 2004 tsunami. The decline
in tourism activity and weaker domestic
demand during 2009 led to a sharp fall in fiscal
revenues. Meanwhile, with further increases in
government expenditure during the year, the
fiscal deficit rose to 26 percent of GDP by the
end 2009. A large part of the estimated increase
in government expenditure during 2009 was
due to the increase in the public wage bill,
reflecting the increase in wages and salaries of
government employees in early 2009. Total
revenue is estimated to have declined by 15
percent of GDP in 2009 mainly as a result of a
sharp contraction in import duty—the main
source of fiscal revenue—and tourism related
revenues (bed tax and lease rent).

Towards the end of 2009 the government
adopted a package of policy reforms to address
the large and growing fiscal deficit. This
included measures to achieve greater fiscal
consolidation through revenue enhancement
and a scaling down of non-priority spending. As
such, in October 2009 the government
announced a partial reversal of wage increases
which was introduced earlier during the year.
Also, the subsidy given by the government for
electricity generation to State Electric Company
(STELCO) was replaced with a cost based
formula for pricing and the introduction of
targeted subsidies.

On the revenue side, several measures are
underway to increase the revenue base. The

ANNUAL REPORT



recent increase in airport tax by 29 percent in
the last quarter of 2009 was among these
measures to increase government revenue. The
government also plans to introduce a goods and
services tax on tourism sector and a business
profit tax in 2010. The introduction of a general
goods and services tax is also planned for 2011.
In addition, the government is in the process of
privatizing a number of State Owned
Enterprises (SOEs) which is also expected to
generate short term financing for the fiscal
deficit.

Monetary Policy and Developments in
Monetary Aggregates

The MMA tightened its monetary policy stance
in the latter half of 2009 to reduce excess
liquidity in the banking system generated by
years of deficit monetization. Growth in the
reserve money (MO) decelerated to 14 percent
year-on-year at the end of 2009 from 23
percent at the end of 2008 reflecting the
cessation of deficit monetisation by the MMA
and the introduction of Open Market
Operations (OMOs) in August 2009. On the
sources side of MO, net credit from MMA
decreased during 2009, reflecting a significant
reduction in MMA net credit to the government
from a year-on-year growth of Rf1,734.5 million
at the end of December 2008 to Rf792.3 million
at the end of December 2009.

Broad money growth (year-on-year) slowed
down since the first quarter of 2009 and
recorded 13 percent at the end of 2009
compared with 22 percent in 2008. With regard
to the sources of monetary expansion, domestic
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credit slowed down to 14 percent year-on-year
at end 2009 from 35 percent at end 2008. Net
credit to government by the banking system
continued to be the major driver as commercial
bank credit to the private sector decelerated
during the year 2009 which turned negative in
the third quarter of the year. The global
financial and economic crises led the banks to
reduce their portfolios to the private sector as
major economic sectors such as tourism,
construction and trade were badly affected by
the crises. In addition to this, commercial banks’
access to credit from international financial
markets declined substantially during the year.
Hence, credit to private sector declined by 4
percent in 2009 compared with a significant
growth of 30 percent in 2008. On the other
hand, credit to the central government by the
commercial banks increased significantly from
41 percent year-on-year at the end of 2008 to
319 percent at the end of 2009. Commercial
banks’ total outstanding T-bills stood at
Rf2,531.0 million in December 2009 compared
with Rf639.0 million in December 2008.

Meanwhile, growth in net foreign assets of the
MMA which remained negative for the most
part of 2008 registered 2 percent at end 2009
compared with a negative 22 percent at end
2008, due to an increase in external financial
inflows in the last month of 2009. Meanwhile,
the net foreign liabilities of commercial banks
showed a declining trend since the first quarter
of 2009. During the year foreign borrowings of
the commercial banks declined significantly,
while their foreign asset accumulation
increased.
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AN OVERVIEW OF THE
MALDIVES MONETARY AUTHORITY

The Maldives Monetary Authority (MMA) was
set up on 1* July 1981 under the MMA Act of
1981. The statutory purposes of the MMA
under the Act are: to issue currency and
regulate the availability and international value
of the Maldivian rufiyaa; to provide advisory
services to the government on banking and
monetary matters; to supervise and regulate
banking so as to promote a sound financial
structure; and to promote in the country and
outside the country the stability of Maldivian
currency, and foster financial conditions
conducive to the orderly and balanced
economic development of the Maldives.

A second amendment to MMA Act (1981) has
been passed by the Majlis and ratified by the
President on 5™ April 2007. The new
amendment of the Act provides for the
autonomy of the MMA by separating the
positions of the Finance Minister and the MMA
Governor.

Board of Directors

The highest policymaking body of the MMA s
MMA Board of Directors who is responsible for
the policies and affairs of the MMA. With the
new amendments brought to the MMA Act on
5 April 2007, a new Board of Directors was
appointed on following dates.

1. Governor
Mr. Fazeel Najeeb
(appointed on 25" October 2008)
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2. Deputy Governor
Ms. Aishath Zahira
(appointed on 1** July 2008)

3. Senior Executive Director / Financial Sector
Division
Mr. Abdul Ghafoor Abdul Latheef
(appointed on 6™ July 2008)

4. Ministry of Finance and Treasury
Mr. Ismail Shafeeq
(appointed on 6™ July 2008)

5. Ministry of Economic Development
Mr. Ahmed Ifthikhar
(from 6™ July 2008 to 26" May 2009)

6. Private Sector
Mr. lbrahim Shafeeq
(appointed on 6™ July 2008)

7. Private Sector
Mr. Ahmed Nazeer
(appointed on 6™ July 2008)

The Organisation in 2009

Organisational Structure and Functions

The Banking and Payments Settlements
Division (BPSD) consists of the Foreign
Exchange Section, Banking Section, Public Debt
Section, Treasury Management Section, and
Currency Section. The Foreign Exchange Section
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and Treasury Management Sections deal with
all matters relating to foreign currency
transactions by the MMA and the management
of the country’s foreign reserves. The Banking
Section, in addition to maintaining the accounts
of Government offices and commercial banks,
acts as a clearinghouse for the commercial
banks operating in the Maldives. The Currency
Section is responsible for printing and minting
of currency notes and coins, issuing
commemorative coins, maintaining the records
of currency in circulation and in stock and
releasing new notes and coins into circulation.
The Public Debt Section is responsible for
securitising, monitoring and managing domestic
government debt.

The Financial Sector Division (FSD) consists of
the Credit and Bank Supervision Section, Non-
Bank Financial Institution Supervision Section,
Credit Information Bureau, Financial
Intelligence Unit, Mobile Phone Banking Section
and Financial Education Section. The duties of
the Credit and Bank Supervision Section include
issuing licenses for banks to operate in the
Maldives, monitoring activities of banks to
ensure their compliance to the rules and
regulations of the MMA, and assessing the
financial health and performance of banks. The
Non-Bank Financial Institutions Supervision
Section is responsible for licensing, regulating
and supervising insurance companies, leasing
companies and other non-bank financial
institutions to ensure their smooth functioning.

The Monetary Policy and Research Division
(MPRD) is the research wing of the MMA. The
MPRD consists of the Monetary Policy Section
(MPS), the Statistics Section (SS) and the
Research and Publications Section (RPS). The
MPS formulates proposals regarding monetary
policy conduct and instruments; and provides

16| Page

analysis and comments on topics that impact
monetary conditions in the Maldivian economy
and monetary policy. In addition to this, the
MPS provides the secretariat function of the
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) and
contributes to bank publications sections. The
Research and Publications Section provides
analysis on domestic and international
economic developments, carries out business
surveys, coordinates the bank’s publications,
carries out research on wider topics, requested
or approved by the management and manages
on behalf of MMA, the domestic Research Fund
(RFD). The section also has the responsibility to
liaise with the IMF and carry out activities
related to SAARCFINANCE and also works to
broaden the understanding of economic
knowledge of the general public, especially
secondary and tertiary school students. The
Statistics Section compiles monetary and
financial statistics; and balance of payments
statistics according to international standards;
disseminates statistics, provide annual balance
of payments projections; provides database
management and advises the governmental
entities on the need for new or improved
coverage of statistical data.

Corporate Division (CD) is mainly responsible
for the general administration of the Authority.
The division provides managerial support for
the continuity of its daily operations without
any disruptions. It consists of six sections: Legal
Section, Administrative Section, Building and
Property Management Section, Public Relations,
Media and Publications Section, Accounts and
Finance Section and Corporate Governance
Section. Legal Section manages all legal issues
arising from external and internal matters and
provides legal guidance on contracts and
project negotiations. Administrative Section
provides managerial support for events and
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activities, which takes place within MMA. The
maintenance of MMA’s assets and premises
and provision of security services is undertaken
by the Building and Property Management
Section. Accounts and Finance Section handles
accounts of payments of expenses, planning of
budget and deals with other financial matters.
Apart from these, this section is responsible for
procuring of goods in close co-ordination with
the relevant sections. All media related
activities, management of the publications of
MMA together with public relation activities
such as providing protocol service for visiting
foreign delegation is undertaken by the Public
Relations, Media and Publications Section. The
Corporate Governance Section deals with
setting standards of corporate governance code
that are to be implemented and to provide
information, monitor and review such records
as and when required.

The Information Technology Division (ITD) is
responsible for the IT needs of the Authority.
The Division consists of the IT Development
Section, which plans the direction and
development of IT applications in MMA, and
the IT Services Section, which provides IT
support services and deals with the delivery of
IT services in the organisation.

Human Resources Division (HRD) deals with
staff matters of the organisation. The Division
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formulates and implements human resource
management and development policies,
conducts tasks related to employment, which
includes attracting talents for the organization,
managing and retaining talents through a
performance  appraisal system and a
competitive remuneration package as well as
developing talents through need-based training
and development programmes. The work of the
Division is undertaken by three sections: Human
Resource Management Section; Training and
Development Section; and Staff Welfare and
Benefits Section. The Human Resource
Management Section deals with matters related
to staff recruitment, selection, leave,
attendance,
management, record keeping and other related

grievances, performance
matters in managing staff. Training and
Development Section is responsible for training
staff to update existing knowledge and skills
and gain new competencies in the required
fields. For this, the section arranges short term
and long term training, seminars, conferences
and workshops. In addition, the section carries
out induction training, staff in-house trainings
and section specific specialized trainings. Staff
Welfare and Benefits Section deals with
development and management of staff pension
scheme, health scheme welfare scheme and
staff payroll.
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ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE
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SENIOR OFFICIALS
as at 31* December 2009

Mr. Fazeel Najeeb
Governor

Ms. Aishath Zahira
Deputy Governor

Mr. Abdul Ghafoor Abdul Latheef
Senior Executive Director — Financial Sector Division

Ms. Neeza Imad
Executive Director — Human Resource Division

Mr. Abdul Hameed Mohamed
Executive Director — Monetary Policy and Research Division

Ms. Mariyam Hussain Didi
Executive Director — Corporate Division
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ADMINISTRATION AND OPERATIONS

Board Meetings

During the year 2009, the MMA’s Board of
Directors held 19 meetings during which 31
resolutions were passed.

Key Operational Developments

Developments of the Banking Sector

Under the banking license granted to SBI on 26™
January 1982, the bank commenced operations
of a new bank in Alif Dhaal atoll Maamigili on
18" March 2009.

During 2009 amendments were made to the
draft Banking Act based on the comments
received from the Attorney General’s Office
(AGO) and the Maldives Law Commission. The
amended draft Banking Act was sent to the
AGO in June 2009 to be sent to the Parliament.

During 2009, a set of guidelines were developed
and published for licensing banking and
financial institutions.

In November 2009, a draft Islamic Banking
Regulation was developed by MMA and
submitted to the President’s Office. Comments
on the draft regulation were received from
Presidents Office on 14 February 2010.

A set of prudential regulations were issued by
MMA in May 2009. These regulations are part
of a series of regulations that MMA is
developing for the progress of the banking
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industry and to ensure the long term economic
health and financial soundness in the Maldives.

The Following Prudential Regulations became
effective from 18" May 2009:

- Capital Adequacy

- Single Borrower Limits

- Limits on Loans to Related Persons

- Transactions with Related Persons

- Asset Classification and Provisioning

- Inter-Bank Exposures

- External Audits

- Publication and Disclosure

- Fit and Proper Requirements

- Corporate Governance

A full scope on-site examination of SBI was
carried out by credit and bank supervision
section during July-August 2009.

Printing and Minting of Notes and Coins

During the year Rf50, Rf20 and Rf500 notes
were printed. In addition Rfl and Rf2 coins
were also minted during the year.

Office Automation

In order to automate the process of handling
banknotes MMA has installed sorting machine
“COBRA 4008”.

Developments of the Mobile Phone Banking
Project Unit (MPBPU)

The implementation work of Mobile Phone
Banking Project continued in 2009. Under this
project 4 main systems will be implemented,
namely, a Real Time Gross Settlement system
(RTGS), Automated Clearing House (ACH),
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Electronic Fund Transfer Point of Sales (EFTPOS)
Switch and the Mobile Payment System (MPS).

The main objective of the project is access to
finance and banking the ‘unbanked’ population
of the Maldives. There are approximately 178
islands without bank branches. And the people
in these islands find it very difficult and
expensive to receive banking services. The
other major objective of the project is to
modernize and automate MMA operations and
establish an interoperable payment system
thereby increasing efficiency in payments
systems in Maldives.

This project is funded by a loan of 7.7 Million US
dollars from the World Bank, and a Grant from
Consultative Group to Assist the Poor (CGAP).

The procurement process of the Mobile Phone
Banking project was completed and a contract
was signed with Montran Corporation of United
States of America in September 2009. Montran
began implementation work in October 2009.

Regulations that were drafted by CGAP in the
year 2008 underwent revision in 2009 based on
consultation with MMA and technical design of
the systems. These regulations are now under a
consultation process with stakeholders. These
regulations are:

e National Payment System Regulation

e Financial Consumer Protection

Regulation
e Financial Transaction Report Regulation

e Mobile Banking Agency Regulation

A market survey (a CGAP funded component)
was conducted across the country by
PriceWaterhouseCoopers (PWC) Sri Lanka to
ascertain data concerning mobile phone usage,
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access to banking facilities and other
information to understand consumer behavior
and preferences to establish baseline
information for MMA to develop a phone based
banking and payment system. This survey will
also serve as baseline data for monitoring
project progress against the objectives. The
survey was presented to MMA and CGAP in
September 2009.

Supervision missions from the World Bank and
the CGAP visited MMA in January and
December in the year 2009. During these
missions the World Bank and CGAP assessed
the work of the project and advised the Project
team and MMA
implementation aspects of the project.

management on

The Pilot Business Survey

A pilot Business Survey was carried out during
March-April 2009 by the MPRD. The main
purpose of the Business Survey is to obtain
information on current business trends and
expected future economic activity in order to
assist in the effective conduct of monetary
policy. The actual Business Survey which is
planned to be launched in 2010 will cover all
major sectors of the economy and will be
conducted during every quarter.

Launch of Businessmen’s Forum

The main aim of the businessmen’s forum is to
get in touch with the representatives of the real
economy on a regular basis to better convey
MMA’s messages and to get the business
community’s views on various issues. Two
meetings of the business forum were held in
20009.

Establishment of the Research Fund
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The Maldives Monetary Authority (MMA),
through its Monetary Policy and Research
Division (MPRD), established the “Research
Fund” (RFD) in order to complement the on-
going conduct of essential monetary and
economic research vital for the achievement of
the MMA’s objectives, and help in the economic
policy formulation of the government. The RFD
also aims to enhance and promote high quality,
independent research activities in the country
to strengthen the research capacity of the
private sector. MMA plans to utilise part of the
Fund through partnerships and coordination
with the private sector in conducting research.

Financial Education and Public Awareness
As part of MMA'’s initiative to increase the

financial education of the public the MPRD
organised and conducted a course for
Journalists on Economic Fundamentals and
Economic Reporting from 15" Aug- 10" Sept
2009.

During the vyear, information sessions were
conducted regarding the functions of MMA and
on the macroeconomic overview of the
Maldivian economy to Secondary School
students.

IMF Mission — Stand-By Arrangement (SBA)
and Exogenous Shocks Facility (ESF)

Initial discussions regarding financial assistance
from the IMF were held during the 2009 IMF
Article IV Consultations in June 2009. A follow
up mission visited the Maldives from 9" to 19"
August 2009 to continue negotiations between
the IMF and Maldivian authorities. The Mission
held discussions with officials from the
government, relevant SOEs and the key
stakeholders of the public sector.
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A letter of Intent was signed on 24" November
2009 outlining the objectives and policies of the
economic reform programme announced by the
Maldivian authorities during the year. On 4"
December 2009 a blended financing
arrangement for Maldives amounting to a
combined SDR 57.4 million (about USS$92.5
million) for a period of 36 months was approved
by the IMF Executive Board. The financing
arrangement with the IMF will support the
adjustment efforts following the global
downturn and the economic reform policies.

Improvements to Statistics

e Pilot Tourist Expenditure Survey, February
2009:
In order to prepare for Tourist Expenditure
Survey, a pilot survey was conducted during
February 2009 for a period of one month.
The main objective of the survey is to
collect data on amounts spent in Maldives
in order to revise the existing dollars per
visitor estimate used in compiling balance
of payment statistics.

e Survey on Maldivians Travelling Abroad,
20"-26" December 2009:
An expenditure survey based on interviews
of returning Maldivians at the airport was
conducted for a period of one week from
20"-26" December 2009. The objective of
the survey is to collect data on total
expenditure of Maldivians while abroad for
different purposes, as part of improving the
balance of payment statistics.

e Beginning September 2009 Monetary and
Financial Statistics were compiled according
to the Monetary and Financial Statistics
Manual (MFSM) 2000 of IMF.
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Formation of Monetary Policy Committee
(MPC)

The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) of the
MMA which was formed in July 2001 was re-
formulated by the MMA Board on 22™ March
2009 with the Governor as the Chairperson of
the committee. The main function of the MPCis
to advise and submit for approval by the Board
of Directors all matters pertaining to the
conduct of monetary policy. During 2009, two
meetings of MPC were held to discuss various
issues related to monetary policy and one of the
main decisions was to start OMOs by MMA.

Open Market Operations

On 27™ August 2009, the MMA started OMOs
using one week Repurchase and Reverse
Repurchase facilities. MMA converted part of
the outstanding government debt into
government bonds, and they are held as
collateral in the conduct of OMOs. OMOs are
conducted with licensed commercial banks on a
weekly basis in order for MMA to manage
liquidity (to absorb or to inject liquidity) in the
banking system. To facilitate its operations, a
Market Operations Committee was established
to evaluate the tender.

Commencement of Treasury Bills Auctioning

To develop the government securities market
and to finance the budget deficit with the least
possible cost, the T-Bills auction system was
introduced on 28" December 2009. Until 28"
December 2009 Treasury Bills were issued on a
tap system.

Under the “Agency Agreement for Cash and
Domestic Debt Management” signed between
MMA and the Government of Maldives, MMA
acts as the agent of the government in issuing
Treasury Bills (T-Bills) to Commercial Banks and
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SOEs in order to finance the government
budget deficit'. T-Bills are issued for 28 days
and 91 days and are denominated in rufiyaa,
sold at a discount to par and carry no coupon.
With the introduction of the T-Bills, the
Certificate of Deposits (CDs) has been
temporary halted.

Conversion of Government Debt to Treasury
Bonds

To improve the management of government
cash flow and to strengthen the MMA balance
sheet, the existing stock of government debt
with MMA was converted to Treasury Bonds (T-
Bonds) in two tranches. The first tranche of
Rf1,587 million was converted to T-Bonds on
16™ August 2009 and the second tranche of
Rf2,502 million was converted on 29"
September 2009. The total amount of debt
converted was Rf4,089 million. These bonds are
semi annual coupon bearing bonds of 1 to 15
years.

Introduction of U.S. Dollar T-Bonds

The first U.S. dollar T-Bonds of US$100 million
were introduced on 23 November 2009 to
overcome the economic stagnation and U.S.
dollar shortages in Maldives. Out of the USS100
million T-Bonds, USS$50 million were issued to
State Bank of India Male’ branch on 3™
December 2009. The bonds are issued with a
maturity of two years and bear a quarterly
coupon interest. The remaining USS 50 million
will be issued in 2010.

Credit Information Bureau Project

In 2009, MMA’s credit information bureau
project carried out work towards the
establishment of a credit information repository

! T-Bills were first issued on 10™ September 2006.
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in the Maldives. The project will contribute to
the development of financial sector of
Maldives.

The primary objective of this bureau is to
reduce the information asymmetry in the
financial sector thus enabling the credit
granters to make informed, unbiased and
objective credit decisions. This in turn will
improve access to credit on the part of the
borrower, especially for the Small and Medium
Enterprises sector.

The following are the main operational
developments of this project during the year.

e The Project Agreement between MMA and
the Asian Development Bank (ADB) was
signed on 13" January 2009. Loan
agreement was signed between ADB and
the Ministry of Finance and Treasury
(MOFT) on the same date. The MOFT on-
lent the proceeds of the loan to MMA
under a Subsidiary Loan Agreement that
was signed on 23™ July 2009. The
effectiveness of the loan was declared by
the ADB on 8™ April 2009.

e The Contract for Consultants’ Services was
signed between the MMA and Dun &
Bradstreet (Asia Pacific) Pvt Ltd on 22™
October 2009. MMA followed a two-stage
international tender in compliance with the
ADB’s procurement policy in selecting the
consultant. The consultancy services
commenced on 19" November 2009. In this
regard, discussions and workshops were
held with all the commercial banks in the
Maldives,

telecommunication service providers, utility

financial institutions,

providers (Male’) and related government
authorities / agencies regarding the project.
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Developments of Non-Bank  Financial
Institutions (NBFls)

During the year 2009, several initiatives were
undertaken by Non-Bank Financial Institutions
(NBFI) section to create a more enabling

environment for the NBFls in the Maldives.

Under a technical assistance from the World
Bank’s FIRST Initiative, Maldives Financial
Development project was initiated during 2009.
This project includes a financial sector review to
serve as the analytical and diagnostic
background information for the subsequent
prepetition of a financial sector strategy
including the financial sector Master Plan. The
first mission of this project took place during
September.

MMA and the Supreme Court of the Maldives in
collaboration with South Asia Enterprise
Development Facility of the International
Finance Corporation (IFC) conducted an
interactive seminar on Finance Leasing from
16™ to 17" May 2009. This seminar was
targeted mainly to the judiciary and practicing
lawyers in the country. Judges from the
Supreme Court, High Court and Island Courts
participated.

MMA in collaboration with IFC conducted an
interactive seminar on Finance Leasing aimed
for the policy makers and stakeholders on 18"
July 20009.

Money Transfer License was issued to Sirius
Financial Services Pvt Ltd on 24™ August 2009.

Democracy fair

MMA participated in the democracy fair held
from 13" to 14" November 2009. This fair was
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organised by the President’s Office to celebrate
one year of democracy in the Maldives.

Human Resource Management and
Development

Recruitment

At the end of 2009, the number of staff totalled
141, comprising 119 active staff and 22 staff on
study leave. During the year 21 staff were
recruited and 11 staff left the organization.

Training & Development

As part of human resource development
programme; 41 staff attended 55 short-term
training programmes, a postgraduate
scholarship was awarded for a staff and one
diploma programme was sponsored during the

year.

Performance appraisal was re-launched after
2007 and all staff were appraised at the last
quarter of the year.

Membership

MMA became a member of the Asian Clearing
Union (ACU) during its 38™ Meeting of the
Board of Directors held in Colombo, Sri Lanka
from 16" to 17" June 2009. MMA is to
commence operations in the ACU mechanism
from 1*" January 2010.

The main objectives of a clearing union are to
facilitate payments among member countries
for eligible transactions, thereby economising
on the use of foreign exchange reserves and
transfer costs, as well as promoting trade
among the participating countries. The ACU is a
clearing houses/payments arrangements

operating in various regions of the world.
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Technical Assistance

IMF advisor on Bank Supervision, Mr. Richard
Walter Nun worked with CBSS on developing
and strengthening the regulatory framework for
the banking industry.

IMF advisor Mr. Eugen Redulscue worked with
MPRD on enhancing the research capacity of
the MMA. He also made contributions to the
broader objective of transforming the
institution into a modern central bank.

Missions

IMF 2009 Article IV Consultation Mission

The annual Article IV Consultation mission from
the IMF visited the Maldives from June 3™ to
16™ 2009 to assess economic and financial
developments. The mission held discussions
with officials from the government, SOEs,
commercial banks, and the private sector
regarding macroeconomic developments for
2008-2009 and the outlook for the medium
term.

IMF Legal Mission

An advisory mission from the International
Monetary Fund’s (IMF) Monetary and Capital
Markets Department (MCM) and Legal
Department (LEG) visited Male’ from August
12-24, 2009. The mission team comprised
Messrs. Ake Lonnberg (Mission Chief, MCM)
and Atilla Arda (Counsel, LEG). The request was
to assist the authorities in their work of drafting
a new organic law for the MMA, MMA Act
2010, with the aim of bringing the existing legal
framework, MMA Act 1981, in line with
international best practices for central banking
legislation.

This represented a continuation of past
technical cooperation (TC) between the IMF
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and the MMA relating to key financial sector
legislation. On this occasion, the main focus was
on strengthening the MMA’s autonomy and
accountability, its formulation and
implementation of monetary policy, and its role
in safeguarding financial stability. The
expectation is that this technical support will
eventually result in the enactment of
legislation, which, to a considerable extent, will
be based on the IMF staff mission’s proposals.
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IMF Safeguards Assessments Mission

Following the Government’ request for financial
assistance from an IMF Safeguards Assessments
mission visited the Maldives from 13" to 20"
October 2009. The purpose of the mission was
to provide reasonable assurance to the IMF that
a central bank’s control, accounting, reporting,
and auditing systems are adequate to ensure
the integrity of operations.
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APPENDICES

Appendix 1

Commercial Banks Operating in Maldives

Banks Established Date
State Bank of India
Habib Bank Limited
Bank of Ceylon

Bank of Maldives Plc
Hong Kong Shanghai

O4February 1974

11 April 1976
07 May 1981

Banking Corporation 11 March 2002
Limited

Mauritius Commercial Bank 04 May 2008

Monetary Measures and Prudential
Regulations in effect during 2009

Interest Rates

Banks are required to inform the changes in
interest rates to the Credit Bank Supervision
Section of the MMA before the close of
business on the date on which such new rates
become effective. Banks are also required to
display interest rates in a prominent location in
the public hall of the bank.

With effect from 24" June 1995, commercial
banks are free to determine the annual rates of
interest chargeable on loans and advances and
the annual interest payable on deposits
denominated in US dollars.
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11 November 1982

With effect from 24" June 1995, banks are
permitted to set the interest chargeable on
loans and advances denominated in Rufiyaa
provided that the rates do not exceed 20
percent per annum.

With effect from 15% August 2001, banks are
free to determine interest rates on Rufiyaa
deposits.

Minimum Reserve Requirement (MRR)

With effect from 1% June 2006, the Minimum
Reserve Requirement (MRR) for commercial
banks was reduced from 30 percent to 25
percent of the average rufiyaa and foreign
currency demand and time liabilities, excluding
inter bank liabilities and LC margin deposits.
Balances of the MRR local currency deposits in
excess of 15 percent bear an interest rate of 2.5
percent per annum. With effect from 30"
December 2008, foreign currency deposits in
excess of 15 percent of the MRR was paid at an
interest rate of 0.25 percent till 26™ September
2009. From 27™ September 2009 till 24™
October 2009, foreign currency deposits in
excess of 15 percent of the MRR was paid at an
interest rate of 0.13 percent. With effect from
25" October 2009 foreign currency deposits in
excess of 15 percent of the MRR are
remunerated at the average interest paid for a
week by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York
to MMA’s investments in the bank on a one
week delay basis.
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Repurchase Facility

With effect from 23 November 2006 MMA
introduced a Repurchase Facility (the Repo) to
replace the “Lombard Facility” to provide short-
term rufiyaa liquidity to commercial banks
operating in the Maldives that are unable to
access funds on the inter-bank market. Repos
are available for terms of one to seven days and
the Repo rate is set at a margin above the one
month TBill rate so as to provide sufficient
incentive for banks to look first to the interbank
market before seeking recourse to the MMA for
funds.

Rediscount Facility

With effect from 23™ November 2006 MMA
introduced Rediscount Facility to develop the
secondary market in T-Bills and such will
provide a facility to repurchase T-Bills from all
eligible holders of T-Bills. It is hoped that over
time, market participants will establish an active
presence in the TBill market, thus reducing the
need for this facility with MMA and eventually
allowing for its removal. The discount rate is set
at a margin above the TBill rate so as to provide
sufficient incentive for banks to look first to the
interbank market before seeking recourse to
MMA for funds.

Foreign Exchange

With effect from 1% July 1985 all commercial
banks operating in the Maldives are required to
adhere to the foreign currency buying and
selling rates published by MMA.

With effect from 12" October 1985, all taxes,
rents and related fines due from foreigners
(excluding expatriates serving the Government
who are paid in rufiyaa), tourist hotels and
guesthouses, are required to be paid in foreign
currencies accepted by the MMA.
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With effect from 19" July 2000, MMA
discontinued the foreign exchange purchases
and sales services of the Post Office Exchange.
Commercial banks were requested to provide
foreign exchange purchases and sales service
(including the purchase and / or collection of
miscellaneous foreign currency notes and other
instruments) and cater to the public demand in
a cooperative and sustainable manner.

In pursuing a more market based system for
foreign exchange transactions in the Maldives,
effective from 2" October 2005, the MMA
discontinued publishing the exchange rates for
foreign currencies except for the US Dollar. This
was then replaced by a system in which all
commercial banks in Male’ were required to
publish their own exchange rates for currencies
except the US dollar, effective from this date.

Prudential Requirements

With effect from 20" September 1986, all
commercial banks operating in the Maldives are
required to include in their loan agreements,
the provision that re-payments are to be made
in the currency in which a loan is disbursed.

With effect from 25" April 1996 till 18" May
2009, banks were required to follow the MMA’s
classification criteria in accordance with a
uniform credit risk grading system or loan asset
classification matrix and charge a loan loss
provision against all classified loans and
advances as per the issued circular. A new set of
criteria for asset classification and provisioning
was issued in the prudential regulation
no.05/2009 Asset
Provisioning, effective from 18" May 2009.

Classification and

With effect from 31° December 1996, banks are
required to obtain MMA’s approval on all
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payments and profit repatriation to their head
offices overseas.

With effect from 3™ December 1996, banks are
required to use a standard format of financial
statements outlined by the MMA, and to exhibit
the annual financial statements in a
conspicuous place within the place of business
of the bank. Effective from 18" May 2009, the
no.08/2009,
Publication and Disclosure, all banks are
required to submit to MMA and publish their
annual audited financial statements as per

new prudential regulation

instructions provided in the regulation.

With effect from 23™ March 1997, the Reserve
Account and the Clearing Account of
commercial banks with the MMA have been
consolidated and the computation of the MRR
was changed to a weekly average basis.

With effect from 30" April 1997, banks are
required to report their net foreign currency
position to MMA on a daily basis.

With effect from 1% January 1998 till 18" May
2009, all commercial banks were required to
maintain a minimum level of paid up capital
that is not less than Rufiyaa 30 million.
Branches of foreign banks operating in Maldives
will  meet a similar minimum capital
requirement through the assignment or
allocation of equity capital into their Maldives
operations from the home country office. Half
of the minimum required capital has to be
deposited with MMA as “capital deposit”
bearing interest at 1.5 percent per annum. In
addition, all commercial banks have to
maintain, at all times, a capital adequacy ratio
not less than 8 percent of risk weighted assets.
Effective from 18™ May 2009, banks are
required to maintain an unimpaired paid up
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capital of Rf. 150 million and minimum ratios of
leverage and capital bases as per the prescribed
requirements in the prudential regulation
no.01/2009 Capital adequacy. Under this new
regulation banks are no longer required to
maintain any capital with MMA.

With effect from 29" October 1997, banks were
to submit a report on the classification of loans
and advances on a quarterly basis. With effect
from January 1998, all banks were required to
complete the form “computation of Risk
Weighted Assets” and submit it to the MMA on
a quarterly basis. With effect from 207
December 2000, banks were required to submit
their credit position on a daily basis. With
effect from 5™ July 2001, banks were required
to submit on a daily basis their total
outstanding loans and advances and on a
weekly basis, the breakdown loan portfolio by
major economic groups. They were also
required to submit their interest rates,
commissions and fees on a weekly basis. These
were made ineffective from July 2009 since
when the banks are required to submit a
comprehensive new set of returns on a monthly
basis.

With effect from 10" December 2000, banks
are required to submit details of foreign
currency sales on a daily (next day) basis.

With effect from 1* January 2001, banks are
required to seek MMA’s approval to appoint
new CEO/GM for their banks.

With effect from 17 June 2008, all banks are
required to seek MMA’s approval before the
appointment of any expatriate staff for any
position in the banks for their operations in
Maldives.
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With effect from 22" February 2006, all banks
and institutions involved in money transfer
activities were required to (1) Formulate and
adopt written policies and procedures against
money laundering and combating the financing
of terrorism, (2) Provide adequate training to
the staff for effective prevention, detection and
control of possible money laundering activities
and combating the financing of terrorism, (3)
Install proper recordkeeping systems for
accurate identification of all customers wishing
to open accounts or make transactions whether
directly or through proxy and the sources of
their funds, and identifying unusual and
suspicious transactions, (4) Maintain customer
information systematically for future reference
should the need arise, (5) Appoint a
“Compliance Officer”, who shall be responsible
for monitoring and ensuring compliance with
the policies and procedures in respect of MMA
guideline, and (6) Report to this Authority, all
suspicious transactions that indicate possible
money laundering or attempts to conceal the
true identity of customers or ownership of
assets.

With effect from 30™ August 2009, all banks are
required to report their interest rates on a
weekly basis.

New Prudential Regulations- effective from

18" May 2009

These regulations supersede all other related
instructions and circulars that were previously
issued by MMA. Moratorium periods were
granted to the banks to comply with the
regulations based on the individual situations of
the banks.

Regulation on Capital Adequacy (Reg
no.01/2009)- Banks operating in the Maldives
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are required to maintain an unimpaired paid up
capital of Rf 150 million and to meet the capital
ratios as stated in the regulation.

Regulation on Single Borrower Limits (Reg
no.02/2009)- Revised limits: Single person 15%
of capital base, Corporate groups 40% of capital
base, Total Large exposures 500% of capital
base . Banks are subject to the new limits and
provisions on single borrower and large
exposures provided in the regulation.

Regulation on Limits on Loans to Related
Persons (Reg no.03/2009)- Revised limits: Single
related person 15% of capital base, Aggregate
limit to all related persons 50% of capital base.
Banks are required to adhere to the limits and
other provisions on loans to related persons of
the bank as set in the regulation.

Regulation on Transactions with related persons
(Reg no.04/2009)- Banks are required to
conduct transactions with related parties of the
bank at “arms length” and to follow the
provisions stated under the regulation.

Regulation on Asset Classification and
Provisioning (Reg no.05/2009)- criteria for asset
classification and the provisioning was revised
and banks are to adhere to the new
classifications, provisioning against loans, and
other provisions as under the regulation.

Regulation on Inter Bank exposures (Reg
no.06/2009)- Banks are required to meet the
limitations and provisions as set under the
regulation.

Regulation on External Audits (Reg no.07/2009)-
Banks are required to meet the provisions in
employing external auditors as set under the
regulation.
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Regulation on Publication and Disclosure (Reg
no.08/2009)- Banks are required to submit to
MMA and publish branch only and consolidated
audited annual financial statements as per the
standards set in the regulation.

Regulation on Fit and Proper Requirements (Reg
no.09/2009)- Banks are required to meet
minimum requirements and standards in
ensuring that the banks’ board of directors,
executive officers and shareholders are fit and
proper as set in the regulation.
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Regulation on Corporate Governance (Reg
no.10/2009)— Banks are required to meet the
requirements and standards as set in the
regulation to ensure good corporate
governance in the banks’ operations.

Taxation

Pursuant to Law 9/85 of 27 June 1985, all
commercial banks operating in the Maldives are
required to pay a profit tax of 25 percent.
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Independent Auditor's Report
To the Board of Directors of the Maldives Monetary Authority

Report on the linancial statements

W have audited the accompanying financial statements of Makdives Monatary Authorilty (e
"Autharity™), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 Decermber 200%, and th
income statement, statement of movement in equity and statement of cash flows for the year than
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management's responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the préparation and fair preseniation of these tinancial statements in
afcordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. Thes responsibility includes: desagnng,
implementing and maintainang internal controd relevant to the preparation and laie présentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whather due 1o Fraud o error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in
the circurmstances.

Audilar's responsibility

Our responsibdlity 1S to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our awdit. The
financial statements of the Authority as of 31 December 2008 were audited by another auditer whose
regort dated 30 April 2009, expressed a qualified opinion on those sialemenis,

Excepl as discussed in the paragraphs marked 1. 2. 3 and 4 below, we conducted our audit in
aicorgance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards reguire that we cHmply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the asudit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
linancial statements are free from material misstatement,

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the hnancial statements. The procedures sebected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraug o
8110, In making those risk assessments, the awditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial slatements in order fo design audil procedures that
and appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of BEPIESSING an opinksn on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control, An audit also includes avaluating the appropriateness of
arcounting policies used and the reasonablensss of accounting estimates made by management, as
well a3 evaluating the owerall preseniatn ol the financial statements.

We bilieve that the audit evidence we nave obtained is sufficient and Appropriateé 1o provide a bases for
aur audit opinion

Opinion

L. We were engaged to undertake the audit on 30 December 2009 and therefore it has not been
feasible 1o rewiew or observe the performance of internal contrals in aperation for the year, in
redation to currency in circulation and contingent ilabilities and commitments. We have not bien
able to perform alternative audit procedures that provide sufficient and approprigle  audit
evidence whether currency in circulation and contingent liabilities and comemitments are fairky
stabig,
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Opinion (continued)

Z.

We were unable to carry out alternative audit procedures in respect of independent direct
confirmation nol received by us. As o resull, we were unable to satisfy ourselves in relation to an
aggregate amount of Bf 62,646,011 consisting of foreign currency labdlities - balances with
gowprnrment institutions BT 27, TBOBTZ and local currency financial liabilities - balances with
gowernment institutions amounting (o B 34,865,139,

The confemation of balances we received from the infernational Monetary Fund (“IMF™) in
connection with the IMF related assets and lEapdlitees shows an amount of Bf 157,212,206 as
IMF Quota thal 5 ndl recorded in these fmancial statements. In addition, these financial
sfaterments indicate an amount of Rf 92,290,605 as IMF related Habilities, and an amount of Rf
237,102,429 as Promissory Mofes issued (o IMF retlected under subscriptions to international
agencies; all of which have not been confirmed by IMF or Ministry of Finance and Treaswry. Due
to lack of records mamtained by the Autharity, we were unable to satisfy ourselves with regard
to the fairmess of the amounts due to and from IMF,

The Aufhgrity by a8 decision af its Board ratified to provide pensions to aligible employees.
Howewer, an estimate of this liability has not been acoounted for in accordance with International
Accounting Standard 19 Employee Benefits, taking into account imgending operations of the
Maldives Pension Law,

In car opinion, except for the effects of such adjustments, if any. as might have been determined to be
meCessary nad we Deen aple to satisly ourselses at o matters discussed in paragraph 1, 2. 3 and 4, the
financial statements present fairly, in all malerial respects, the financial position of the Authority as of
31 December 200% and of its financlal performance and its cash lNows for the year then ended in
accordance with Internadional Fenancial Reporiing Standards.

i

‘j'.-L.k_rn
30 March 2010




Maldives Monetary Authority

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 20609

Asaris

Foreign currency financial nssets
Cash and balances with banks

IMF related asseis

{hher reecivables

Total foreign currency lnancial asseis

Local currency financial assets

Subscriptions o international agencies

Invierest and odher receivahles

Loans and aglvamees to E,lwcrnnwnl mnl BUOWETne ni
instilalisns

Investment in securilies-government bonds;- Held-to-

Maturity instruments
Total local currency lnancial assels

Total Minanckal asseis

Laoscal currency non-financial assels
Giold and silver assets

Properiy, plant and equipment
Inventorics

Other assels

Taotal becal currency non=-financial assels

Total asseis
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Maldives Monetary Authority

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Asat 31 December 2009

Liabilities and equity

Foreign currency financial liabilitics

Balances of commerncial banks

Balances of government and government instiutions
IMF related liabilities

Dreporsits by intermational financial institutions
Intzrest bearing loans

Ohher liabilities

Total foreign currency financial liabilithes

Local currency finpncial labilities
Balances of commercial banks

Balances of government and government institulions
Securilies sold under agreement to repurchase
Deposits by international financial instingions
Other liabilities

Total local eurrency financial liabilitics

Total Niancial Habilities
Criher linbilities
Currency in circulation
Dreferred grants

Total liabilities

Egquity

Capital

Reserve

Tutal equity

Tatal liabilities and equity

The Board of Directors of the Maldives Monetary Authority authorised these financial
=0 April 2000, Signed For and on behalf of the Boarsd by,
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Maldives Monetary Authority

INCOME STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2009

Mote 2o 2ons
Operating income Rr Rr
Foreign currency income 24
Interest incomse 7,183,299 63225181
Interest expense (2.628.223) (15497 287)
Net foreign currency income 4,555,076 47.727.594
Iacome From local currency financial asseis 25
Interest income 246,988,865 122,676,257
Interest expenss {13,408.027) (9,767 304
Netincome from local curreney Minancial assels 131,580,838 112,908,953
Ohiher income 26 14,6542, 256 15,410,803
Net foreign exchange revaluation gain 27 30,065,998 32,494,752
44,765,254 47,905,555
Total net operating income IK2.901, 168 208,541,402
Operating cxpenses
Personnel expenses 28 25,965,012 22,754.372
Administration expenses 0 20809 633 20,511,408
Deprecition and amomisation | 6,800, 353 620,567
Taotal operating cxpenses 63.673.997 43897437
Mot priofit for the vear 219227171 T G4, T4
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Maldives Monetary Authority

STATEMENT OF MOVEMENT IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2004

ForeiEn assel
Contribaied  General revaluation Hetaimed
caphial FESEFYE reserve carnimgs Twtal
K 24) Rr BT Ri
As al | Jamwary 2088 1 e B bR bl 6TT 1 2o R0 560 197447977

Relrospective restatement of ermors | Mole
219,728,325 219,728,325

KL ]|

Addjusted balance as al | January 2008 1 800,500 B0, 0647677 346 52H625 A17.076 302

Profit re-appropriation to the government . = - (195773213 {195,773,213)
Prafia for the vear ] - - 1644, 904 |4, el O
Transfers i FARK . = 5636979 {5636 979) -
Sarplus payable w government - - (13,4%6,931) . (13,456,931)
As at 31 December 2008 L0000 _ 5000000 _ S3HITTIS 309763397 _ 372591123
As at | January 2B0% L i 8, M, DR 531817, T28 X9, Tl 30T FTLA91.122
Profit re-appropriation 1o the govemminent . - - (46,746,020 (146, T4, 121}
Profit for ibe year . B - 219227171 219 3X7171
Tramsfers to FARR = - 8,233,551 (B.233.551) =
Surplus payable 1o povemment - - (12.412.255) . (124022530
As al 31 December 2009 el BUO000  B000.000 49649021 ST4010 8% 431659917
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Maldives Monetary Authority

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2009

Note
Cash Mow from operating activitles:

Souree
Miscellaneous income
Interest incame received

Met LS Dollar receipts{ payments) from govemment current accounts

Ciain on sale of US Dollars

Mgl receipls’ {pavments) relating (0 govemiment curreil ascounts
Payments o commercial banks

Collections related 1w BCCI

Disbursement

Staff related costs

Expatriate salary and sther expenses

Tramnimge, development and payments relating 1o meetings
Printing and minting noies and coins

Cash pasd fo other expenses

Bank charges paid

Miscellaneous expenditures

Net cash Mow Trom aperating activities

Cash Now Trom investing actlivilies
Proceeds from disposal of equipments
Investment in development projecis
Investment in PP&E and work in progress

Cush flow firom Niancing sctivities

Finangial institulions iransactions

Met curmency issues 1o cinculation 1
Receipts from IMF facilities

Repavment of emergency assisiance

Procesds from sceurities sold under repurchase agreement
Proceeds from Interest bearing loans

Proceeds from deferred gram

Nl inerease in cash and cash equivalents

Exchange rate effect on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents atl the beginning of the year

Cash and cash cquivalent at 31 December i3

Restated
20009 2008
Rr Rr
221,732 | 75,749
4,092 47 6l 52, Thdb
2 485,181 14,622,371
4482210 -
4,505,315 (456049837
(4 32.6%) (07 661,143])
1 2, (W 36, (M}
(38.511,647) 11,286,924, 1)
(25.948,236) (22 754372}
(410087 . 120
(3.212.285) (2.606.3TT)
(28,588,727 (7022415}
(6.484.127) (6456 500)
{ 1685440 (16 A23)
{190,528) 132330
(65, 02,355) (HEB07.637)
(1D3.515,981) (1,325, 731,737
- 10,096
{10,942 574} (31,433,734}
{15728, 8318) (42.271.001)
(26.671.413) (45,6%90,648)
85,391,553 B1. 006,554
AT 8318 420 439,912,599
Ol 424, Binh &
(40,370,767) (30,421 494)
1,000, (M) =
29, 125 (W) S BS54
3,208,045 3BT 0E
13417515 498,299,749
100630, 1 21 (BT T8.636)
T4 058 6010420
3,040.21%,087 3.907.337.304
3,152, 844,266 Jal0400,2 19087




Maldives Monetary Authority - B
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YWear ended 31 December 20004

. REPORTING ENTITY AND STATUTORY BASE

These are the financial statements of the Maldives Monetary Authority (The Authority), the institwtion
established under the Maldives Monetary Authority Act (MMA Act) 19581 of the Republic of Maldives.
Maldives Monetary Authority is domiciled in the Republic of Maldives and is situated at Majeedhee
Building. Male™. the capital city of the Republic of Maldives.

The Authority was established in 1981 and is responsible:-

(4] To issue currency and reguliale the availubility, and infernational value of the Maldivian Rufivaa:
(b To provide advisory services 1o the Government on Banking and monctary matiers;

(€1 To supervise and regulate banking so as o promote o sound financial strocture;

and

(d) To promote in the country and owlside the country the stability of Maldivian currency and foster
linancial conditions conducive 1o the orderly and balanced economic development of Maldives,

These financial statements for the year ended 31st December 20080 were authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors of the Maldives Monetary Authorily in accordance with the article 35 of MMA Act.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.

- Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for cenain assets and labilities
that have been measured at fair value as identified in specific accounting policies below.

Keporting format

The Authority presents financial assets and financial liabilities, and their associated income and expense
“reams, by distinguishing between foreign currency and local currency activities. In the statement of
linancial position assets and liabilities are presented broadly in order of liquidity within such
distinguished calegory. The Authosity considers that this reporting approach provide appropriate
reporting of the Authority’s activities.

Currency of presentalion

The Ninancial statements are presented in Maldivian Rufiyaa, unless otherwise stated, and are rounded wo
the nearest Rufiva.

Statement of compliance

These financial statements of Maldives Monetary Authority for the year ended 31 December 304 have
been prepared in accordance with Intermational Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS).

L. L Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those used in the previous financial year except that
the Awthority has adopted the following standards, amendments and interpretations. The adoption of

these standards, amendments and interpretations did nol have any effect on the financial performance or
position of the Authority. They did, however, give rise 1o additional disclosures.

G %M ‘_
"*dl: o ARy AuS .



Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 208

2.2, Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)
IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements

This standard requires an entity 1o present all owner changes in equity and all non-owner changes 1o be
presented in cither in one stutement of comprehensive income or in two separate statements of income
and comprehensive income, The revised standard also requires that the income tax effect of cach
component of comprehensive income be disclosed. In addition, 01 requires enfities o present a
comparative statement of financial position as a1 the beginning of the earliest comparative period when
the entity has applicd an accounting policy retrospectively, makes a retrospective restalement, or
reclassifies items in the financial stalements,

The Awhority has clected 1o present comprehensive income in one stalement — a2 stalement of
comprehensive income, The Authority has not provided a restated comparative set of linancial position
for the carlicst comparative period, s it has nol adopted any new accounting policies retrospectively, or
has mude a retrospective restatement or retrospectively reclassified items in the financial statements,

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial instruments: disclosures - improving disclosures about financial
instrmmenis,

The amendments 1o IFRS T were issued in March 2008 o enhance fair value and liguidity disclosures,

With respect o fair value, the amendments require disclosure of a three-level fair value hicrarchy, by
class, for all financial instruments recognised at fair valoe and specific disclosures related to the transfiers
between levels in the hierarchy and detailed disclosures related 1o level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. In
wddition, the amendments modify the required liguidity disclosures with respect to derivative transactions
and assets wsed for liquidity management,

Changes 1o this standard do not have any impact 1o the financial slatements,
IFRS 8 Operating Segmenis

This standard requires dischosure of information on the Authority’s operating segments and replaced the
requirement to determine primary (business) and secondary (geographical) reporting segments of the
Authority. The Authority concluded that the change of this standard does not have material impact 1o the
financinl slatements,

Improvemenis to IFRSs

In May 2008 and April 2009 the IASE issued omnibus of amendments to its standards, primarily with
view o removing inconsistencies and clarilying wording. There are separaie transitional provisions for
each standard. The adoption of the following amendments resulied in changes to accounting policies but
did not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Authority.

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations: clarifies that disclosures are
required in respect of non-current assets, disposals and discontinued operations. The asseis classified by
the Authority as “held for sale’ and ‘discontinued operations’ are only those set out in IFRS 5. The
disclosure requirements of other IFRSs only apply if specilically required for such non-curremt assets or
discontinued operations.

IFRS § Operating Segment Information: clarifics that operating segment assets and liabilities need only
be reported when those assets and liabilities are included in measures that are umd"lu.ﬂuﬁ'hi-,-[ operating
decision maker.  As the Awthorilys chiel operating decision makers diew  segmen
performance assets the Authority has decided no impact from this change.  # s

wik # ¥ -
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Yoear ended 31 December 20005

2.2, Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continwed )

IAS T Presentation of Fimancial Statemenis: Asseis and liabilities classified as held for trading in
accordance with LAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are nol sutomtically
classificd as current in (e statement of Dinancial position, The Authorily analyvsed whether the expecied
period of realisation of Tinascial assets and labilities differed from the classification of ihe instrument,
This did nod result in any reclassification of financial instruments between current and non-current in the
statement of financial position.

IAS 7 Staterment of Caxh Flows: Explicitly statcs thal only expenditure thal resulls in recognising an
assel cn be classified as a cash fMow from investing activities.

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Replaces the term “net selling price™ with “fair value less costs
i sell”, The Awthority amended its accoumting policy acoordingly, which did nat resull in any change in
the financial position.

IAS 18 Revenue: The IASB has added guidance (which accompanies the standard) 1o determine whether
an entity is acting as a principal or as an agent. The fenures (o consider are whether the entity:

*  Has primary responsibility for providing the goods or service

*  Has inventory risk

*  Has disgretion in establishing prices

*  Bears the credit risk

The Authority has assessed its revenue arrangements against these criteria and concluded that it is acting
as principal in all arrangements,

IAS 20 Accounting for Government Gramts and Disclosures of Government Assistance: Loans granted
with no or low intercst will not be exempt from the requirement 1o impute interest. Intercst is 1o be
imputed on loans granted with below-market interest rates. This amendment did nod impact the Authority
as the government assistance received in the form of loans are for specific projects and for which the
market rate and nominal rite of interest are same.

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs: The delinilion of borrowing costs is revised to consolidate the two types of
iems that are considered components of “horrowing costs” into one = the interest expense caboulated
using the effective interest rate method calculited in accordance with IAS 39, The Authority has
amended its accounting policy aceordingly which did not result in any change in its financial position,

IAS 36 Tmpairment of Assets: When discounted cash flows are used o estimite “Gir valee less cost o
sell” additional disclosure is required about the discount rate, consistent with disclosures required when
the discounted cash flows are used 1o estimate “value in use”. This amendment had no immediate impact
on 1he financial statements of the Authority because the recoverable amount of iis cash generating units
is currently extimated using “value in use’.

IAS 38 Imtangible Assels: Expenditure on advertising and promotional activities is recognised as an
expense when the Authority cither has the right 1o access the goods or has received the service. This
amendment has no impact on the Authority because it does not enter into such promotional activities.

Chher amendments resulling from Improvements 1o IFRSs 1o the following standards did not have any
imipact on the sccounting policies, financial position or performance of the Authority:

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment

1.
IFRS 7 Financial Instrumems: Dischosunes ..,.Inp" .’
1AS 8 Accounting Policies, Change in Accounting Estimates and Emor * ¢ i \
IAS 10 Evenis after the Reporting Period

x * :
1AS 19 Employee Benefits Lk Gd 1 -
|® o L3
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December NEE

2.2, Changes in accounting policy and disclhosures (Continued)

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

1AS 28 Investmenis in Associmies

IAS 31 Imtere=ts in Joinl Venlures

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporiing

IAS 40 Investment Properties

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
IFRIC 9 Beassessmen of Embeddedd Derivatives

IFRIC 16 Hedge of a Net Invesiment in a Foreign Ohperation

Standurds, interpretations and amendments (o published standards that are not vet effective

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published that
are applicable for the Authority s acoounting periods beginning on or after | January 2000 but which the
Authority has not early adopied, as follows:

Amendment o IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement — Eligible Hedped
liems

This amendment 1o LAS 39 was issued on 31 July 2008 and is applicable for annual periods beginning on
or after | July 2008 with early application permitted. The amendment clarifies how the principles that
determine whether a hedged risk or portion of cash Mows is eligible for designation should be applied in
particulur situations. The Bank is still assessing the effect of the revised standards on its financial
shilements.

IFRIC 9 and IAS 39: Embedded Derivatives

The IFRIC has isssed Embedded Derivatives: Amendments to IFRIC 9 and TAS 39 which requires
entities 1o assess whether 1o separate an embedded derivative from a host contract in the case where the
entity reclassifics a hybrid financial ssset out of the fair value through profit or loss category. The
amendments to IFRIC 9 require an assessment to be made either when the entity first became party 1o the
contract or when a change in the terms of the contract significantly modifies expected cash flows. The
amendments are applicable for annual pericds ending on or after 31 December 20008,

IFRS % = Financial Instruments
IASE has issued IFRS 9 with the ullimate intest of replacing IAS 39 in ils entirety. IFRS 9 specily how
an entity should classify contracis, They require all inancial asseis 1o be;

(a) Classified on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contrsctual cash Aow characteristics of the financial assel.

(b} Initially measured at fair value plus, in the cose of a financial asset not &t Fair valee through profit o
loss, particular fransaction cosis

(e} Subsequently measured af amortised cost or Fair value

An entity shall apply this IFRS for annual periods beginning or after January 2013.The application of the
amendment is not expected 1o have a significant impact on the Authority’s financial statements.

2.3 Bignificani accounting judgments and estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and linbilities, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilitics, at the end of the reporting period. In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
Authonty has made the following judgments, which have the most significagn&Ffet,on the amounts
recognized in the financial siatements. ! W t-xr.




Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 20009

Impairment losses on loans and advances

The Authority reviews its individually significant boans and advances at each statement of financial
position dale o wssess whether an impairment loss should be recorded in ihe income siatement. In
particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash
flows when determining the impairment loss, In estimating these cash flows, the Authority makes
judgments about the borrower’s financial situation and the net realisable valve of colliteral. These
estimates are hased on assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may differ, reselting in
future changes o the allowance.,

Loans and advances have been assessed individually to determine whether provision should be made due
o incurred loss events for which there is objective evidence but whose effects are not yet evident.

Pensions and sther post employment beoefit plans

The Authority has assumed liability 1o provide post employment benefits 1o employecs. Currently there
are emplovees who are eligible for pension and being paid pensions. The Board of Director’s of the
Authority has decided that when the Government of Maldives brings a common post employment benefit
plan, that they will be required 1o abide by the same. Therelore, the amounts of liability that the
Authority may have o pay af (e transition point are nol assessed,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Forvign currency translation

The Auwthority’s functional and presentation currency is Maldivian Rufivaa. Transactions in foreign
currencies are initinlly recorded in the functional currency ruling ol the date of ransaction. Monetary
assels and linbilities denominated in foreign currencics are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling w
the reporting date, All differences are taken to the income statement. For the purposes of retranslation
the following Maldivian Rufivas exchange rates for major currencics were uscd:

2007 Devember 2IME December
Rr (]
I Awestralian Dollar 11,3576 BRI
| Euro 18.24.34) 17.978(0
1 Singapore Dollar 4,063 £.8321
1 Special Drawing Rights (SDR) LIRS 19, 84°H1
I Sterling Pound 202510 15.4Th3
1 United Siates Dollar 1275 1275

Ntﬂl'mnmlar_'r' iems thal are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
wsing exchange rates at the dates of initial ransactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates a1 the date when the fair value was determined

Financial asseis amd liabilities

The Authorty presents financial assets and liabilities, and the associated income and expense streams, by
distinguishing between foreign currency and local currency activities. Foreign currency activities mainly
arise from the Awthority’s forcign reserves management function.  Local currency activities mainly
reflect the assets and liabilities associated with monctary policy |l'|1|:'|||..nﬂ'.:|1ll'.1‘r g currency and
I.’.an]-.mg activilies. e



Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2009

Financial assets and liabilities (Continwed )

The separate reporting of these activities is considered to provide a better presentation of the Authorily's
financial position, linancial performance and nisk profile. The Authority considers that the combined
reporting of forcign and local currency activities would weaken the informational value of the financial
slatements,

All Tinancial assets are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given and
including acquisition charges associated with the investment. Subsequent measurement bases aller initial
recognition are described below. All regular way purchases and sales of financial assels are recognised
on the trade dite respectively. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

International Monetary Fund (IMF) related balances

Im accordance with Article 22(j) of the Act. the Authority may act as liscal agent of the government in its
dealings with Intermational Financial Institutions transacts with the International Financial Institutions
and undertake fimancial agency work for the government. In compliance with the Act, the sceounts with
International Monctary Fund (IMF) in which records all transactions with the IMF have been included in
these financial statements on that basis,

The cumulative allocation of SDRs by the IMF is treated as a lability. Exchange gains and losses arising
on revaluation of IMF assets and liabilities at the exchange rate applying at statement of financial
position date as published by the IMF are recognised in the Income stalement,

All other charges and interest pertaining to halances with the IMF are recorded immediately in the
Income sialement,

Cazh and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash o foreign banks and financial institutions and short-term
deposits.

As a pan of local currency activities the Authority generates cerlain income and incurs expenses, which
do not involve in movement of cash. Those activities resull in certain assets and liabilities and mainly
comprise of the transactions with Government and iransactions with domestic banks and [inancial
institutions. Transactions with Government include the banking transaction 1o the government and
governmenial entities, The results of these transactions are rellecied as mere book entries in the records
of MMA.

As the sole statutory authority, the Authority issues currency 1o the public in line with Maldives
Monetary Authority Act. Currency issued by the Authority represents a claim on the Authority in favour
of the holder. This is a liability on the part of the Authority while it is an item of cash in the hands of the
holder. Movement in circulation currency is included as pari of financing activities in line with
prevailing industry practices amaong those central banks which preseni cash Mlow statements.

The Authority through the cashipay order process disburses cash in the form of notes and coins or

cheques drawn on MMA, to various drawers including suppliers and employees for goods and services

obained, which is either added 1o the currency in circulation liability or deposits by banks and financial

institutions. Such forms of utilization of currency for the purposes of the .-'umhmilytﬁ{’rrmmﬁ form part
&

of cash outflows of Authorily. .&p "




Maldives Monetary Authority
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 200049

Repurchase and reverse-repurchase transactions

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase continee 1o be recorded as assels in the statement of
financial position. The obligation o repurchase (Securitics Sold Under Agreements 1o Repurchase) is
disclosed as a liability. The difference between the sale and repurchase price in repurchase Irnsactions
and the purchase price and sale price in reverse-repurchase transactions represenls an expense and
income respectively and recognised in the income statement.

Securities held under reverse-repurchase agreements are recorded as an assel in the statement of financial
position (Securities Purchased Under Agreements o Re-sell). Both repurchase and reverse-repurchase
transactions are reported al the transaction value inclusive of any sccrued income or expense.

Investment portfolio — Maldivian Government Bonds

The Authority"s investment portfolio consists of honds purchased from Government of Maldives, The
pertiolio is recorded in the stalement of financial position al amontised cost since they represent loans
provided 1o the Government.

Advances o government

Advances o Government represents direct provisional advances made to Government of Maldives under
section 22 (h) of the Maldives Monetary Authority Act, as amended.

Laoans to other institutions

Loans granted 1o other institutions are recognised and carried al the original granted amount less an
allowance for any uneollectible amouwnts. An allowance for doubtful debts {for loan impairment) is
established il there is objective evidence that the Authority will nol be able 10 collect all amounts duse.,
The amount of the allowance is the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated
recovernble amount. Bad debts are written off when identified.

Securities lending

Transfer of securities 1o counter parties under lending transactions is only reflected on the stiement of
financial position if the risks and rewards of ownership are also transferred.

Impairment of financial assets
The Authority assesses at each reporting date whether a financial assei is impaired,
Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment koss on loans and receivables carried st amorntised cos|
hu= been incurred. the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash Nows (excluding future credit losses that kave ol
been incurred) discounted at the financial assct's original effective interest rte (i.c. the effective interest
rale computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced cither direcily or
through use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss shall be recognised in the income
slatement.

IT, in a subscquent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrense can be related
objectively to an event occurring afler the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is uw in the income
statement, 1o the extent that the carrving value of the asset does not exce 1 cost al the

reversal dae. #
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 3] December X009

Forvign currency term liabilities

Foreign currency term liabilities are subsequently reported at the amortised cost of the liabilities,
Changes in the valse of these liabilities are recognised s an increase or decrease in the value of the term
lizbilities in the Statement of financial position, Gains and losses arising from changes in value of
foreign currency term linbilities are recognised immedintely as expenses in the Income statement.
Where the linhility is still owed, the gain or loss is reported os (Gain) /Loss from Unrealised Price
Revaluation. Where the gain or loss has been realised (ihrough repayment of the liability), this is
reported as (CGains) /Losses Realised from Price Changes.

Financial guaraniees

Financial Guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements a1 fair value, in Other Payables,
at fair valve. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Awthority’s liability under each guaraniee is
measured al the best estimate of expenditure required wo seitle any financial obligation arising as a resuli
of the guarinice,

(iher financial assets anc labilities

Local and foreign currency cash, deposits and short-lerm advances are recognised on trade date.

Diher asseis and Habilities
Cenalel

Section 21 (2) of the Maldives Monetary Auihority Act which specifies the composition of External
Reserve indicates that gold may be held by the Authority as pan of this Reserve. Hence, Authority holds
gold as pant of its External Reserves. As this gold is part of the External Reserve and not used as 4
commaddity which is traded during the normal course of business, (hence, not o financial instrument as
per the definition in IAS) gold is fair valued and the gains or losses are iransferred 10 the income
statement. Prior to appropriation of profits, the unrealized gains or bosses from gold are transferred to the
lorcign assel revaluation reserve.

Property, plant and equipment

Property. plamt and equipment is stated i cost, excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment in value. Such cost includes the cost of replacing
part of such property, plant and equipment when that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.
Except for the frechold land, depreciation is caleulated on a straight-line method over the following
estimated wselul lives:

Buildings on frechold land 30 vears
Machinery and equipment 5 years
Furniture and fittings 5 vears
Motor vehicles 5 vears
Computer equipment 3 vears

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment w o changes in
uip pa wIETA ge

circumstanges indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable, T Siresitiual values,
1

uselul live and methods are reviewed, and adjusted i appropriate, regularly. '::F.'"f' F T
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 20009

Receivahles

Receivables are carried al expected realisable value after making due allowance for doubtful debts,
based on ohjective evidence,

Chher sumndry assels are carried at expecied realisable values.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Authority assesses al each reporting dute if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired, whether there is an indication that a non-financial asset may be
impaired. If any such indication exists, the Authority makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable
amount. Where the carrying amount of an assel exceeds its recoverable amount, the assel is considered
impaired and i% wntlen down (o its recoveralle amount,

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Authority has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an ouiflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
b settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the
Authority expecis a provision 1o be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate assel but
only when the reimbursement is virtually ceriain.

Currency in circulation

Currency issued by the Authority represents a claim on the Authority in favour of the holder, The
liability for currency in circulation is recorded at face value in the statement of financial position.

(rranis

Grants recognised at their fair value (where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions, if any, will be complied with) are shown under other labilities.
When the grant relates 1o an expense item it is recognised in the Income statement over the periods
mecessary o match them io the expenses it is intended 10 compensate on a systemaiic basis, Where the
grant relates 1o an asset, the fair value is credited 1o a deferred government grant sccount and is released
o the Income statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset on a systematic basis
consistent with the depreciation policy of the related asset,

Imvcosmae Ly

There is no income tax imposed on the Authority by the government as at 31 December 2009,

Revenie and expenses

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probuble that the economic benefits will Mow o the
Authority and the revenue can be reliably measured. Expenses are recognised in the income statement
on the basis of a direct association between the cost incurred and the earning of specific items of
income. All expenditure incurred in the running of the business and in maintai _ i apgny, plam &

equipment in a state of efficiency has been charged 1o income in arriving a1 the Tek r

=
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2000

The following specific recognition criterin must also be met before revenue and expenses are
recognised:

Interest

Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement for all inierest bearing instruments
on an accrual basis wsing the effective yield method based on the actual purchase price unless
collectability is in doubt. Interest income includes coupons eamed on fixed income invesiments and
securities and accrued discount and premivm on treasury bills and other discounted instruments. Interest
income is suspended when loans become doubtful of collection. Such income is excluded from interest
income until received.

Miscellancous

Miscellancous income and expenses are recognised on an accrual basis.

MNet gains and losses of a revenue nature on the disposal of Property, Plant & Equipment have been
accounted for in the Income statement, having deducted from proceeds on disposal, the carrying amount
of the assets and related selling expenses,

Gains and Josses arising from incidental activities 1o the main revenue generating activities and those are
nal materval, are aggregated, reporied and presented on a net hasis.

Contingent liabilitics and commitments including ofT halance sheet items

All guarantees of indebledness, forward forcign exchange transaciions and other commitments, which
represcents off balance sheet items are shown under respective headings recognised as of balance sheet
iems, Where applicable, such amounts are measured at best estimates,

4. Natwre and extent of activities

The Board of the Maldives Monetary Authority is vested with the powers o carry oul the functions of the
Authority and are responsible for the management, aperations and administration of the Authority.

The functions of the Authority as per Article 22 of MMA Act are given below:

1 Open accounts for, and accept deposits from, the Government its agencies and public entities,
banks and other fnancial institutions in Maldives.

) Act as correspondent, banker, agent or depository for any monetary authority, central bank or
international fimancial institution;

i) Open and maintain accounts with such banks or other depositories and appoint them as
cormespondents of agents of the Authority in or oulside Maldives as may be necessary;

w1 Buy. sell or deal in gold coins, bullion or foreign exchange;

V) Bay, sell, invest. or deal in treasury bills and oiher securities issued or guaranteed by foreign
governments of international fnancial institutions;

vi) Buy, sell, invest, or deal in tressury bills and other scourities issued or guaranteed by the
Ciovernment;

17




Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2000

vilii) Make temporary advances to the Government a5 may be agreed;

1x) Make advances 1o the Government on terms and conditions 1o be agreed upon in respect of
subscriptions amnd other payments relating 1o the membership of Maldives in any international
financial institution, the participation of Maldives in any account thereof, and any transactions
andd operations undertaken in connection therewith;

X} Act as fiscal agency of the Government in its dealings with international financial institutions
and undertake other financial agency work for the Governmeni:

4. Natwre and extent of activities (Continued)

xi) Borrow money for the purpose of the business of the Authority, and may give securities for
monies so borrowed as provided by Law with the approval of the President of the Republic and,

i) Guarantee the repayment of government loans and the service charge thereof,
xiti)  In conjunction with the banks, organize and manage a Clearing Houwse,

The activities carried out in order o achieve its objective of economic, price and financial system
stability with a view to encouraging and promoling the development of the productive resourees of
Maldives can be broadly segregnted into foreign currency and local currency activities. Resulis of these
activities are taken to mean Operaling aclivities in the context of the income siatement

Foreign currency activities

Foreign currency activities resull mainly from the Maldives Monctary Authority’s holdings of foreign
currency assels under ils foreign reserves management function. The forcign reserves portfolio
comprises foreign currency assets held for investment and settlement purposes.

The foreign currency assels are held in various currencies, The majority of foreign currency assels are
denominated in United States Dollars, Euros and Sterling Pounds,

Lacal currency activities

Local currency activities largely involves the Maldives Monetary Authority offsetting the daily net
lowes 1o or from government or market by advancing funds to or withdrawing funds from the Banking
system.  With regard to this liquidity management is undertaken through weekly open market
operations. In addition to this the Authority’s budgetary expenses are also included in local currency
ACIvIRIes,
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4.1

4.2

Al

2iWFy RILIE

CASH AND BALANCES WITH BANKS KT K
Cash in hand 10, 79,224 12976717
Cash al bank 14,045,726 14,147,056
Lash in transit - 31875
Momey ot overnight placements | Mobe 4.1 and 4.2) 3.0 26,300,000 .00 01,550,000
Investment in lixed deposits 2375.923 2,198, 1 86

LI53.517.873 3,040,903, 514

Federnl Reserve Bank of New York

The Authority has an arrangement with the Federal Reserve Bank of New York for Automatic
Investment, Under this amangement, whenever the balance in the deposil accoumt exceeds USD
250,000/~ the excess is invested in multiples of USTY 100,000/ in an overnight repurchase agreemen,

JPF Morgan Chase Mew York

The Authority has an amangement with the JP Morgan Chase Bank New York for Aulomated
Investment. Uinder this srrangement, whenever the balance in the deposit account exceeds USD
AS0,000V-, the excess is invested in mubliiples of USD 100,000/ with an investment cap of USD
25000000/~ At the end of each banking business day, whole sweep increments in excess of LISD
AS0.000 -, but aggregating no maore than investment cap will be invested into a pooled shorl term time
deposits,

P L1 20K
IMF RELATED ASSETS Rr Hr
Huolding of Special Drawing Rights { Note 5.1) 155,394,884 T.921.533

Irteres! receivables 09824 230,146
D55, 494, TR 151679
——————

Holding of Special Drawing Highis (SIHR)

Ihe SDR is an international reserve asset, created by the IMF 1o supplement its member countries
official reserves, Iis value is based on o hasket of four key intermational currencies, and SD#Rs can be
exchiged for freely usable currencies,

Helding of Special Drawing Rights is potentially a claim on the freely usable currencies of IMF
members, in that holders of SDRs can exchange their currencies for these SDRs. The SDRs value as a
reserve assel derives from the commitments of members 10 bold and accept SDRs, and to honour
various obligations connected with the operation of the SDR system. The IMF ensures that the SDRs
claim on frecly usable currencies is being honored in two ways: by designating IMF members with a
strong external position e purchase SDRs from members with weak external positions, and through the
armangement of voluntary exchanges between participating members in a managed markel. The amount
shown above represents the total holding of SDR'S by the Authority as al the respective balance sheet
dates. wLDTY,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2009

i, |

2000 2hog
SUBSCRIFTIONS TO INTERNATIONAL AGENCIES B R
MUK Securities Account - Promissory Motes Isswed to IMF 2370102429 212644043
MOHFT Securitics Account - Promissory Notes Issued to IBRD B.264,330 Q02033
MOFT Securities Account - Promissory Notes Issued o MIGA GEe 775 GR9, 775

246,056,554 111 IZ5049

The Authority is designated as the depository of the International Monetary Fund (IMF), International Bank
for Reconstruction and Development (IRRD) and Mulilateral Invesiment Guarantee Ageney (MIGA) for the
Republic of Maldives. The above halances represent the promissory notes issued by Ministry of Finance and
Treasury (MOFT) to the said institwtions for membership subscriptions and related purposes.

111 oy
INTEREST AND OTHER RECEIVABLES RI R
(hher receivables 5 0%46.837 19.E38.661
Imierest receivable 11672834
Sumndry debiors - 58,556
Less: Allowance for doubtiul reeeivables {5196 837} (3,279,179
- E‘HETJ
2y JHIx
LIOVANS AND ADVANCES TO GOVERNMENT AND Ri Ri
GOVERMMENT INSTITUTIHINS
Minisiry of Finance and Treasury - MIFCO Loan | Note 8,1) 29,593,113 53,073,333
Ministry of Finance and Treasury Loans | Note §.2) - 173384861
Liovernment budget expenditure advances { Note §.3) - 3.131,003,295

29,593,113 3 337,501,489
e

Ministry of Finamnce and Treasury - { MIFUO Loan)

A loan amounting w RE 62,200,000/ has been given 1o Maldives Industrial Fisheries Company Lid 10 meet
theis working capital requirements through 1999 10 200 1. This loan was transferred o Ministry of Finance and
Treasury in 2004 and is payable over a period of 10 vears ot an inlerest rate of 6% per annum. Principal
repayments of the loan started in May 2004 and has 1o be repaid in full by April 2004,

2009 oo
Rr R
Balance as at | Janwary 33,173,333 19,393,333
Accrued interest L.B1R,541 1192125
Repayments: Principle and interesi (5398761 ) (%.412,125)
Balumee as at 31 December 19,593,113 33,173,338
——
Receivable within one vear 6,2 19, 9% 6219906
Kecervahle afier one year 23373117 26,953,337
£ .
HE ~
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2000

8.2

A

1

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO GOVERNMENT AND GOVERNMENT INSTITUTIONS
(Continued)

Ministry of Finance and Treasury Loans

An amount of RE 172,000,000/ was provided 1o the MOFT to contribute 30% sharcholding in Addu
Imvestment Pt Lid. The loan was granted on 6 July 2008 at an interest rale of 6% per annum. These
aimdnls were setiled in full om 22 January 3000,

Government budgel expenditure advances

Lip until August 2009 the Awthority has granted loans and advances to Ministry of Finance and Treasury
to meet the government budget linance requirements. These are given in the form of Ways and Means
Advances and budget financing loans. Upon agreement between the Authority and MOFT, the
outstanding principle amounts of the loans and advances have been converted into Government Bonds
on 1 7th August and 3th Seplember wotaling o RE 4,089,000, 000/~

2009 008
R R’
Balance as ai 1 Janwary F 31003, 295 2633210525
Add: Met loans advances ond imerest 5T 00, TS 497,792, T
Transfiers 1o government bonds (Note 9) {4,089 (6,000 )

Balance g @l 31 December 3,030.003,395
—————

200 RILL
INVESTMENT IN GOVERSMENT BONI B R
Invesiment in governiment bonds { Note 9,1 § A RS 0,000 -
Interest receivable on government bonds 93,304,581 .
4,182, 504,581 =
———————

Investment in governmeni bamds

Under article 22 (h) of the MMA Act, the Authorily may make advances to the Government of Maldives
lo finance the budgel. According 1o the powers vested, the Awthority has granted loans and advances in
the form of Ways and Means Account Advances and loans and advances 1o meet the budget financing of
the Ministry of Finance and Treasury (MOFT),

On 186 August 2009 and 30 Seplember 2009, both the Authority and the MOFT have agreed 1o convert
the outstanding principle amounts of the loans and advances, which amounts 1o RT 4 08%,000,000/- in
tofal, into Government bonds. The Authority uses these Government bonds as collatual to conduct the
open market operations,
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|l

([IN ]

I

11.2

1LY

1.4

1.5

I.6

GOLIN AND SILVER ASSETS

Gionldl al Cair value (Maode 1001y

Sibver al cosl

2009 20N
R ’r
23,307,642 18,640, T
71172 T1.172
2LITH AL 18,711,952

section 21 (2) of the MMA Act off 1981 which specilies the composition of the Exiernal Reserve imdicates
that gold may be held by the Authority as part of Reserve. Hence, as at 31 December 2000 the Authority
hedids RE. 23,307 642/ (20008 - Bf 18,640, 7R} in pold as part of its reserves. Gobd is fair valued and the

gains or livses arg transferred o the income stalomenl.,

FROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Larmes corrying amoiits

Ad eost

Frechold land

|.'lu'||.1.|:irl_g,:-: o frechold land
Machinery and eyjuipment
Furniture ansd liimgs
Moaor vehicles

Compuler equipment

In the course of constructing

Building work in progress

Total value of depreciabde asseis

Depreciation

Buiildings o Frechold T
Machinery ard equipmiml
Furpiture and fillings
Molor vehicles

Campuier equipmsen

Total carrying amount

Balance Balance
As ot Additions Diisgrssanls/ As at
D101 29 [Transfers Trunsfers 3122000
kI R R Ir
1 ORI, EHHD i . 1 M1, ()
g 37,6038, T2 - JT638, T2
1,454,823 62,262 656 (173.978] G3. 543,500
1.082,036 16,538,840 (#5854 17.611.998
- 415 250 . 205250
2,544,733 X21 423 (i, (W52} 2702044
6,081,392 117066877 246,924} 122900545
02 125 749 19,543,724 (101,608 513 &
UR 20T 381 13, DD (E11. % 16,A43T) 122,901,545
Balamce Balanoe
Asal Charge IHi=posals’ As at
AN 200 Foor the yeiwr Transfiers S L 200
Rr 4] Rr R
- 1253 8¥2 - 1,253,822
1162878 I 1,928,139 {138.138) 12852879
1, (a3 33 3300, 1) (H.454) 4, 20 5440
- 27519 . 519
2042 427 200,772 i, i 3) 218,137
4,271,638 16,809,352 211,084} 20 H6%, Mk
Hlﬂa‘l-ﬂ 1 1639

Property, plant and equipment inclades fully depreciated assels having 0 gross carrying amounts of R

2732186/ (2004 RE. 3812 545/

During the linancial year, the Authority acquired property, plam and cyuipeng

the aggregate valuse of BRI 4992113/ (2008 RI. 389,254/,
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209 2N
12 INVENTORIES Kf Rr
Motes for circulation 31,774,950 11,948,428
Coins Tor circulation 10,688,872 H16X.550
Civins in transit 3159 76 .
Total inventories at lower of cosi and net realisable value 45625613 M0 16,978
el L[] 200s
13  OTHER ASSETS [ Kr
Development projects
Credit Information Bureaw { Mowe 13.1) 50009252 -
Mobile Phone Banking Project ( Note 13.1) 16,270, 560) 3,820,637
21289812 3.R20,637
Advances, prepayments and other assels 20114, 340 B 14 494
23, 34,152 1635, 1356
———
L3.1 The balances represent the development cost incurred for the Mobile Banking Project and Credit
Information Bureau Projects.
14 BALANCES OF COMMERCIAL BANKS

As per the section 4(c) of the MMA Act, the Authorily s acting as the regulaior of ithe
commercial banks operating in Maldives, In carrying out this duty the Authority open accoums
for, and accept deposits from, banks o facilitate interbank transfers and monitor minimum reserve

requirements imposed on the commercial hanks,

200% 2iMIR
Rr KF
Foreign currency deposits by banks :
Related partics ST0.834. 508 565,130,531
(khers 1066 8T TIT G 33 AR5
146,714,525 1,559, 163,949
Local currency deposits by banks :
Reled partics 16585942 545 1L013,523,140
Others UTLEEE 82T 045,590,854
2631831476 1.959,114,029
Assigned capital deposits 300NN DM 91,183,751
RIKCLINL L 91.183.751
Total deposiis by commercial banks 4308, 546,040 A609461.776
7
L
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in

(LN

6.2

BALANCES OF GOVERNMENT AND GOVERNMENT INSTITUTIONS

Heluted parties 2 2iWs

KT R
Foreign currency depsits; MOFT and government instiluions 12,951,724 |1, 162,265
Public cnicrprises 34232 ¥ ek e
1 20, H5 956 106,206,497
Local currency deposits:  MOFT amd government imslitutions GIH WL 622 IR LT
Public enterprises 35317622 RS04, 011
fbed 279,244 614,449,617
Total balances with government and governmental institutions L TH5,265 200 T M, 14

Zoi 200

IMF RELATED LIABILITIES R R
IMF Sccurities Account (Mole 16.0) 210,055, 558 183,638,102
IMF Mo 1 Account (Mote 16.2) 5, 7520540 £.752.059
IMF Mo, 2 Accownt (Mole 16.3) 5657 136
Allocation of Special Drawing Rights (Nole 16.4) |53, BRY.R42 5,604,792
Emergency Assistance Facilily (Nole 16.5) 10,254,525 A0,E570k1
Stamd-by Agreement Loan (Moic 16.6) B0, (0 .
Exogenois Shock Facility Loan (Nole 16,7) 240, 540 200 -
481,542,771 247,R58, 1M

IMF Securities Account

The Authority maintains the IMF securitics account on the balance sheel and inclsdes non-negotiable, pon-
imcrest bearing scourilics isseed by the MOFT in favour of the IMF, which are payable on demand. These
securitics ane ssucd for that portion of the quots lishility payable in Maldivian Bulfivaa, for use of IMF credin
lacilitics such o Balance of Payment Support facility and Siandby  Agreement Tacility eie, and Tor ike

revaluations made by the IMF every year as of 308h Agpril,

ip ] 1
R kI
Balance s ai | January IR, 634,102 203,504,550
Promissory notes issaed during the year T, 66, 103 13,649 5K2
Promissory metes redeemed during the year (54, 0143.617) (31,956,020
Bakince as at 31 December 2I0,FE 58K 1RS. 638, 102
E—

IMF Mo 1 Account

The Mo 1 Account is used For IMF transactions and operations, including subscription pavments, purchases,
repurchases, repavment of borrowing, and sales in Mabdivian Rufiyaa.
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16

16,5

4

165

Lt

IMF RELATED LIABILITIES (Continued)
IMF Na. 2 Account

The No, 2 Account is used for the IMFs adminisirative expenditures and reccipes (for exanple, receipts from
sabes of IMF publications) in the member’s currency and within its tervitory, Small oul-sf-pocket expenses,
such as telecommunication charges, may be debited to this account on a quarterly hasis.

Allseatbon of 3pecial Drawing Righis

The SR is an international reserve assel, created by the IMF (o supplement its member countries’ official
rescrves. s value is based on a basket of fowr key international currencies, and SIS can be exchanged for
freely usable currencies.

Holding of Special Drawing Rights (SDR) is potemtially a claim on the freely usable currencies of IMF
meimbers, amd that holders of SDR' can exchange their currencies for these SDRs, The SDR's value, as a
reserve assel is dervided from the commitments of members to hold and sccept 508, and 1o hasour various
obligations connected with the operation of the SD system, The IMF ensures that the SDRS claim on freely
usable currencies is being honoured in two wayvs: by designating IMF members with a sirong exiemal
position to purchase SIS from members with weak external positions, and through the armngement of
volutary exchanges between parnicipating members in o managed market. The amount shown abave
represents the total allocation of SCH's to the Authoriiy as st the respective balonce sheet dates,

Emergency Assistance Facility for Maldives {BOP Support Loan)

The International Monctary Fund (IMF) provides emergency assistance o member countries hit by natural
disasters 1o help them meet immediate balance of poyments financing needs. and maintain or restore macro
cconmimic stability, The IMF has granted SDR 4,1 million (sbowt LSS 6.3 million) as emergency assistanoe
for matural disasters to the Republic of Maldives on & March 2005,

In line with the IMFs Execstive Board's decision 1o subsidize emergency assistance for PRGF-eligible
countries hit by natural disaster, the rate of charge on the assistance has been subsidized 10 0.5 percent per
annu subject o resource availability. As st 31 December 2000 last installment omtstanding on this Facility
meains o STHE 512 500/

Sland-ly Arrangement

The Stand-By Armangement is designed to help countries address short-tenn halance of payments problems,
Program targets are designed 10 address these problems and Fund dishursements are made conditional on
achieving these targets (*conditionality”). SBAs may be provided on a precautionary basis, where countries
chaose not 1o draw upon approved amounts bt retain the option to do so i conditions deteriorate, hoth
within the nommal secess limits and in cases of exceptional access,

The IMF approved a 36 month SBA for Maldives amounting 10 SDR 49.2 (600% of quoia) on December 4.
2004 The financing is designed 1o help smoothen the country’s adjustment 1o the fallout from the global
erisis and support the povernment's policy change program.

25
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L3

16.7

li.R

IMIF RELATED LIABILITIES {Continued )
Exogenous Shock Facility (ESF)

The International Monetary Authority (IMF) provides exogenous shock facility 1o its member countries
which are affected by event that has a significant negative impact on the economy and that is beyond the
control of the povermment. The ESF his two components:

A rapid-aceess component under which a country can access fairly quickly, up to 50 percent of its quota
for each exogenous shock, with resources normally being provided in a single disbursement, This
component can be used on a stand-alone basis or as a first step wwards higher access.

A high-acoess component with access up 1o 150 percent of quota for each arrangement in normal
cincumstances. Resources are provided in phased disbursements based on reviews, and programs are one
to-twao years in length. The IMF approved a 24 month armngement under ESF for Maldives amounting
b SR 8.2 million { 100 of guotal on December 4, 2009,

The following table shows the interest bearing facilitics. from IMF, outstanding at the respective halance
sheed dabes.

2009 200%
e Interest rate  Maturity Ri BT
Emergency Assistance Facility 0.50% ORO32010 10,254,525 0,602,516

10,254,525 HLE02, 516

Non-current

Emergency Assistance Facility 0.50% G8.03.2000 - 10,234,525

Stand-Hy Armangement 0.50% 08.12.2017 82,036,080 .

Exogenous Shock Facility h.50% 11.12.2021 20,509,020 =
102,545, 1M 10,254,525

Toual interest bearing loans fram 1MF e 112,799,625 ﬂl.ﬂ?.ﬂi
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7

17.1

1%

18.1

8.2

INTEREST BEARING LOANS

Minisiry of Finance and Treasury Loan (Motel7.1)
Balance as wi | January

Amounts received during the vear

Acerued interest’ effects of exchange rates

Balnnee as at 31 December

Zibikh R ILIE]
I RT
J.RI5.000 -
29325000 JB25 (elM
451,955 -
J3.0001,955 3 RI5.00
e e —————————

Ministry of Finance and Treasury provided a loan 1o the Authority for an amount equal 10 SDR.
4., 000/- 1 undertake the Mobile Phone Banking Project on 3rd August 2008, As al the balance sheet
date the Authority has withdrawn SR 1,679, 35% from the above loan.

Tatal Loan Amouiit SKE. 4,900,000
Interest Rate 0.75%
Hepayment From 3002008 o 1 5032028 S0DR 49,000/~

From | 50FN2ZO02E to 15032048 SINE 98,000.-

OTHER LIABILITIES

Foreign currency atler liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrwed changes

Bank of Credit and Commerce Intemational {BCCH
Commercial banks human ressurce development deposits

Lacal currency ather lahilifies

surplus pavable to governmeni

Accounts pavable

Sundry creditors

Payables to government depariments

Commercial banks human resource development deposiis
Bank of Credit and Commerce International {BCCH
Accrued charges

Hescarch fund

MMA human resource devebspment deposils

Ll 2008
Hr (14
10,1 3%, 086 386,904
152,989 272803
12491 .584 12491 584
6] 025 Gl 025
23,445,584 13,812,315
25,869, | B 13.456,93)
16,433,722 G17.155
10,3 Vi (0 =
T.356.468 2,951 827
4. 836,092 3,662 600
2046, 748 2034 T48
532650 373,622
B0, -
Gl KER 84,777
67,746,754 25 481,660
G119 558 9. 208 976
L :
,3?1""': r,‘_;._ = 17
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[k

20

20.1

F 1]

21.1

SECURITIES SOLD UNDER AGREEMENT TO

REFURCHASE

MMA Repo facility 1o Hobib Bank Limited - Male” Branch

20
(3]

108,00, N

I

The above balance represents the repurchases transaction done with Habib Bank Limited - Male' Branch as

# the balance sheet date under the Open Market Operations. It was a 7 days repo transaction.

DEFDSITS BY INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL

INSTITUTIONS

The International Development Association

The International Bank for Recongruction and Development

The Asian Development Bank

The Mubilateral Investment Guarmniee Agency

2IHH 1008
Hr R

12534 172,534

B039 442 0526442
250,107 250,107
172,444 172,444

0634527 10,221,527

m—

The Awhority is designated as the depository of the Intemational Development Association (1DA),
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD), Asian Development Bank and Mubtilateral
Investment Guaramtee Agency (MIGA) for the Republic of Maldives. The above balunces represent the
amaaunts collected on behalf of these supranational mstitutions, for various purposes.

CURRENCY IN CIRCULATIHIN

The Authority, as the sole currency issuing authority in Maldives continued 1o perform the function of issuing
legal tender currency. The amount of currency issued by the Authority and in circulation as 8t respective

balkance sheet dates, are as follows;
Net curreney b eireulation

Coins:

Mmles:

Denomination

i Lazri

F Laari

3 Laari

[} Laari

25 Laari

50 Laari

| Rufiyan

2 Rufiyvaa
sl eoins

2 Rufivaa

3 Riuiliyaa

[1] Rufivaa

X Rufiyaa

5 Rufiyas

L] Huilfiyaa

00 Rufiyaa

&

2009 2008
R R

34,068 33.536
49,680 49,680
282,306 278,447
435,517 430,268
1.315.983 1,239,595
3,289,039 3,086,729
13,216,683 11,399,701
15,782 5006 11,531,740
(2.455) (2455)
32403327 28,047,240
1,631,384 1,633,072
15,039,155 4448415
24,040,150 21,896,530
14,734,240 14,858, 100
28,902,550 30,212,750
1934 16200 23T 4T3 600
1.489.554.500 1413623000
1.767.318,209 1,734, 145,467
179721536 1,762,192.707

28
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DEFERRED GRANTS

The Authority has undertaken the Mobile Banking Project. Consublative Group to Assist the Poor
(CGAP) has granted LISD 555,700 for the project and the Authority recognises the assets acquired for
the project with the cormesponding credit recognized as deferred revenue, Deferned revenue will be
amortized over the period that matches with the depreciation policy of such assets.

The Authority has received a motor vehicle as a gift from the Ministry of Finance and Treasury. The
motor vehicle has been recognised as an asset in the books and the cormesponding credit recognized as
deferred revenue and will be amortized over the period that matches with the depreciation policy of
mor vehicle.

22.3 Changes in deferred grant from MOFT and CGAP as of and for the years ended 31 December 2008 and

&1

131

3.2

233

20 are summarized in the following schedule:

2N 1R
R 11
Deferred grant, beginning of yvear I RTTOR9 .
Cirants received during the year 3613349 3 RTT.0RG
Addjustments to grants - Motor vehicle amonization (27.51%) ;
Balance as at 31 December F) a19 I ETT.ORD

EQUITY AND RESERVES

Capital
The Capital account represemts the capital of the Authority in sccordance with Chapter ¥, Section 25 of
the Mbda Act,

In addition to the retained carnings, reserves comprise the following;

Gremeral reserve

e general reserve s established in accordance with Chapter V, Section 27 of the MMA Act As per
the provisions of the Act, the Authority could allocate 50% of the net profit of the A uthority, until such
time as the General Reserve is equal to the authorized capital of the Authority, afier which the
Authority could allocate 25% of its net profit 1o the General Reserve account until the General Reserve
is equal o twice of the authorized capital,

Forcign asset revaluation reserve (FARR)
The Authority established Foreign Asset Revaluation Reserve in accordance with Chapter V, section 28
of the MMA Act. According 1o the Act the gains and losses arising from any change in the valuation of
the Authority's assets or liabilities in gold, foreign currencies or other units of accoun, as a result of
alierations of the extemnal value of the Rufiyaa. or of any change in the values, parities, or exchange
rates in respect of such assets in relation 1o the Rufivaa shall be credited 10 a Revaluation Reserve
Account. As per the provisions of the MMA Act neither the gains nor the losses from change in
vatluation of foreign currency assets and labilities of the Authority could be included in the
computation of profit or loss. An amount equal to RF 8,233,551 (2008 RT 5636931/ reloting to
loreign assel revaluation, has been transferred 1o FARKE.
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24.1

4.2

I5

251

252

FOREIGN CURRENCY INCOME

Imterest income

Interest on overnight placements
Interest received on reserve deposits
Interest received on boamns 1o banks
SR receipts

Infcrest expenses

Interest puid on reserve deposits

Charges on Stand-by Agreement loan
Interest on BOP support loan

SDR charges

Charges on Exogenous Shock Faciliny loan

INCOME FROM LOCAL CURRENCY
FINANCIAL ASSETS

Interesi income

Interest received on wavs and means advances
Inderest received on treasury bonds

Interest received from loans 1o Governimenl
Interest received on loans o banks

Discounts on treasury bills

Interest neceived on reserve deposits

Interest expense

Interest paid on reserve deposits

Imerest paid on assigned capital deposits
Imterest pand on open market operations

pAIL Y RAILIE
R ’r
4.1 11,604 &I RDO, K]
2035 444 | &5, | %8
773,323 -
262928 1,239 R
7,183,299 03,225,181
[T 12,581 448
0] 4000 =
448 024 2769 727
149 854 146,112
5622 .
1a2R 223 IHW&H’-’
200 200%
Rr Rr
1214559 394 113,702 482
93.304,58) -
31,665 427 T.257.520
JHER RSN :
256,073 1.66T 427
14,531 48,826
246,988 565 122,676,257
12,680, T8 B A58 564
367,624 1308740
139614 -
13408027 9.767.304
pﬂ*“ Iy
‘. .
::.‘:".'-f"r i :'Fl
B :'-,* 1 )
- <Y 30
"|| I
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26 OTHER INCOME

Commission received

Bank charges received

Animal license feed from commercial banks and money chn:ngcrg
Miscellaneous eamings

1T NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE REVALUATION GAIN

Ciwim on sale of LIS Dollars
Mierence on foreign assel revaluaiions

I8 PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Salaries and wages
Remunerntion io the Board members

I ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

Printing and mimting notes and coins
Stationary and other office expenses
SaafT trainking expenses

Linlity charges

Allowance for dowhiiul recemvables
Training, development and payments relating 1o meetings
Telecommunicmions charges

Memberships and subscriptions

Audin fees

Consultancy fees

Repairs and maintenance

Bank charges

Haospitality expenses including board mieeting expenses
Rewin

Expenses on projects under development
SWIFT license fee

Publications

Office equipment

Miscellaneous expenses

Lams on disposal of fixed assets

2009 20K

) L
0.E53 60 9042322
3,442 008 3506887

ITT625 356,000
1025860 2,705,593

14,699,256 15410803
2 2(HIR
Rr Hr
21,832,447 10,837,773
B.233,551 5,636,970
30,065,998 32,494,752
o9 Iomg
Rr Rr
25,504,500 22507813
460,511 246,559
25 2 11,754,372
LWy 2%

Kr Hr
6,240,303 [, Zi0, 540
5.047.241 094,128
2,251,789 2 308,051
2.260,145 O, E0T
1917658 .
1. 106,767 208,325
(LR 1 1,241,356

655 250 300,305

412,716 .

410,087 6,120

395,785 121,852

290,174 224047

156,247 40,546

146,102 [.382, 776

111,995 1,732,359

1,788 =

71337 102.21%

41683 200

26,000 47,048
EIJ!J£

il
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CAFITAL MANAGEMENT

The Authority's ohjectives when managing capital, which is broader than the ‘equity’ on the face of the
halance sheet, anc

= o comply with the capital reguirements outlined in section 25 of the MMA Act; and

* o safeguard the Authority's ability 1o continee as a going concern so that it can conlinue o provide
central banking facilitics for the Republic of Maldives;

Capital adequacy and the use of statutory capital are monilored by the Authority's management and in
sccordance with the guidelines established by the MMA Act. As at 31 December 2008 the Authority's
asuthorised capital was RE 4,000,000 and paid up capital was RO 1OO00000-, Authorized Capiial may be
increased [rom time 1o time by such amounts as may be proposed by the Board and approved by the
Presiden.

PROFIT RE-APPROPRIATION TO THE GOVERNMENT

Under scetion 27(2) of the MMA Act, as amended, the Authority’s net profil, as determined in
aveordance with the Act, is paid 1w the government afler making necessary appropriations 1o provision
and reserves under sections 26 and 27(1) respectively. During the period the Authority transferred RiC
[46, 746, 12100 o the government in respect of profil for the year 2008,

NET ISSUES [ (WITHDRAWALS) OF CIRCULATION CURRENCY 0N
GOVERNMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTION TRANSACTIONS

2iMK 2

Rr Rr
Met receipts from government institlulions currenl accounis 140,773 265,506,953
Others 67531 218,521
Payment relating o government instilulions current accounts (2T6,05Y,135) {649, 2 116)
Dishursenents on commercial bank currenl acoounis [ 154, ik, Uss ) { JMy, UEH BAT)
Nel currency issues (o circubition (47.838,829) (439,912,590
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE CASH FLOW
STATEMENT 2iWpy i

Rr BRI
Cash in hand 100, 7u5, 224 12,976,718
Casly al hank 14,045,726 14,147 003%

Mamey al overnighl placemenis 3126, 3000 (KK

Investment in fixed deposits (those with maturitics of 3 monaths

JA0L 1550000

¥l
o less) 1,702 316 1,545,334
ﬁ#ﬁ, 3IS2544.266  3A40,219087
- | 3
Y 4
= g Lar —
olf I %= peLloN X
T 3 | ﬂ- 4 32
. ; La\ a0
5 AT
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Ihe Awhority's principal financial liabilities comprise of amounts payable o commercial banks,
government, public entities and imternational financial institutions while foreign curency cash and cash
equivalents, treasury bonds and 1MF related assets wre its main financial assets. The Authority does not enter
inlee derivative iransactions.

Maldives Monetary Awthority as the Banker of the Government ensares that ils reserves ane safeguanded.
Howewer, the Authority s exposed w0 a variety of linancial and non-financial risks when performing s
functions. Such key risks ane ientified as fellows;

Country risk

Credil risk

Murket risk

Liguidity Risk
Crperational Risk
Inleres Rate Bk
Foreign Currency Risk

SR e b —

Financial risk is normally any risk associabed with any form of financing. Risk is probability of unfavourable
condition if aciual refurmns are less than expecied retum.

Couniry risk

The forgign reserve invesied overseas is exposed 10 the country credit risk due 1o political. economic and
financial events in the country of investmenl. Country risk includes the possibility of nationalization or
expropriation of asscls, government repudiation of external indebledness, changes in exchange control
pelicies and cusrency depreciation or devalaation,

Investmient of the Authority’s majority of foreign reserves in economically advanced and politically siable
couniries limit the exposure 1o country risk,

The Authority’s end-of-year significant concentrations of credit exposure by geographical area (based on
the :ﬂtil}"i couniry l}fmipﬁ are as follows,

ZiW L[5
Concentrations of credil exposane by geographical aren Kr Kr
Maldives 4. 211,597,504 3.363,852 361
UsA 1,147 582 502 3,031,734, 194
Britain 1.731.336 1,569 582
Europe IR0 A58 iTelE19
Singupore 334,373 1A58.107
Aistralia 61,118 394614
Supranational fimancial imstiulions M1 551 242 230,506,728
Total lnancial msseis T, 106978721 EE&IT?,H}T

leE
LA
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RISK MANAGEMENT (Condinuel)
Credit Risk

Credit risk is the possibility that the counter-party will not fulfill its contractual obligation, resulting in a
financial loss. To manage the credit risk the Authority determines and evaluate the credin limits 1o banks and
te the government. The Authority has discontineed provision of shon term lesding 1o government and public
entities during 20070, Shorn tenm advances granted until August 2009 were converted imo government bonds
and are wsed as collatern] for conducting open markel operations. Furthermore, advances provided 10

commercial banks are backed by government guamniee,

The Amhoriny's end-ol-yvear significant concentrations of credit exposure by Instiution type are as lollows,

2ot 2ong
Rr I
Covernment and government instiutions 4,31 ] 897604 3365852 3410
Supranational financial instituions 401 550 242 250,500, T28
Foreign banks and linancial instifutions 3,142,733, 561 3027941601
Foreign cash in hans 10,796,234 12976717

Tuetal Mnancial asseis

Credit exposure by eredif rating

'FI'J'MI'H=1'1| ET&TT#!'I

The folkvwing table presents the credit rtings of respective financial asets or isvers, based on the ratings of

Standard and Poor’s, Fiich Ratings and Moody”s rafings,

2009 iag
Credit ﬂm KT " i %

Foreign cash in hand I, 746,224 0.1% 2976 718 2%

AAN 3005 445,185 40.0% 2963455 24% %

AA- 30,895,047 0.4% $8.331.287 0,99

AA | BT, 750 .0 | 650,776 0%

A 3874976 (1Y) 3A01.567 0%

BRB- 710,593 PG 690,722 11.0%

353,520,784 dne%  3M09IR3IE 45 5%

IMF relaied assets I 55,494, 708 24P E 151,679 0. 1%

Tatal Foreign currency Tisancial

iLanels 3. 309,024,492 460 % 3049 064,997 J5.94%
Supranational financial institations

AAA BS54, 105 0. 12% 0,7 1, 1 0,15%

MA 237,002 429 s 212,644,943 1M

Imterest aned other receivabbes (MA) - 0.0% 28 MW 872 0.43%

Livvernment of Maldives 4,211,897 654 54.2%  3,365852361 H. %

Total fnancial assets 7,766 978, 7H Q6. 8% 6.637,277,407 1060

*?.P;L'[I Iv,.
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A5.4

RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued )

Markei risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
Muctuate becavse of changes in market prices and includes currency and interest rate risks.

i} Currency risk is the risk of loss on foreien assets and labilitics anising from changes in foreign
exchange rates,

i) Imnerest rate risk is the risk of loss arising from changes in market intenest rates,

Market risks are mitigated through investment of majority of foreign reserves in US daollar
denominated assets due 1o the existing USD peg system and investing in highly accredited
financial nstitutions.

Liguidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk arising from the inability to sell a financial asset o close to its fair value
at short notice due o inadequate market depth or market disruptions. To manage liquidity risk the
majority of foreign reserves is invested in ovemnight repurchase agreements of the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York.

Operational risk
Chperational risk is the result of inadequate controls or failed processes such as human fraud and
system errors and as a resull of external events,

The Authority has in place a number of operational controls o minimize the financial and
reputational damage against such risks, These include;

- Segregation of duties which assist in better control by avoiding potential outright fraud or
collusion amaong stafl,

- Preparation of monthly reconciliations of accounts.

- Maintaining processes relating to data integrity and hackup svstems,

- Proecting the physical assets against thefi and fire by the surveillance of security and fire alarm
SYSIeTNS,

Interest rate risk
Imterest rate risk is the risk of loss ansing from the changes in interest rates

a) Inderest rafe sensitivity

The interest rate sensitivity analysis measure the potential loss due 1o a drop in interest rate by 10
basis points for interest bearing assets and increase in interest by 10 basis points for interest
bearing liabilities. Impact to the income statement is given below,

i M
_‘:‘,,.::::"E_I'Tr{‘g Ri Rf
Patential loss of interest income ' f i ’l\i:’}l-‘r_*: | 2,035,547 0,03, 1 5%
i A
AT f 'S ST 17
G\ & ”fg.
'ﬂi Tl "..I'q. | e |

LY AW "‘x'.'ﬂtui-i'ﬂ'"'l
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2004

L1 RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTION IHSCLOSURES

361 Tronsaciions with state and staie controlled entities

a) In the normal course of its operations, the Authority enters nbe irensactions with related partics. Related
partics inchile the Republic of Makives (Siate: as the whimate owner of the Authority). various
govermment deparimenis, ond State COwied Entithes. Panticulars of transactions, amd armangements endered
inte by the Authority with the State and State comrolled enities are as follows:

1L LI
1) R

Profit re-appropriation 1o the government 146,746,121 195,773,213
Suwrplus paid to povernment - 15 400,920
Advances w Government as o 31 December (Mote 08) 29.593,113 3,337,561 489
Government Securities Held 1o Maturity {Moge 09) A, (8400 000 -
Liress foreign exchanpe rransactions during the vear

- Sales T2 ART,TIT 1.522. 845,060
= Purchases Jl29.000 1381375000
Lioam given to Bank of Maldives Plc 165, 750,000 -

b) Through the operations the Authority cams interest, charges and commission from the services provided 1o
the government and other governmental entities, which are included as part of the income siatement and
thas pasd ool a5 dividend 1o the governiment.

2 MR

R )
Interesl ingcome eamed from related panses 246,974 334 122627431
Laans receivesd from Ministry of Finance amd Treasury 29,776,955 3,825,000
Finamge charges paid 25,206 =
Charges and commissions camed from related partics 12,933,293 12,214,599
Crross value of goods and services obtained 2470791 1039358

€} The apgregate balances owstanding on deposits by government amd governmental entitics, as at 31

Dhecember, arg given below,
11 ElLL]
(11 R
Government deposits with the Authority 49,913,344 T20,127. 771
State Chwned Enterprises deposits with the Aubority 34380 854 10,538,343

_T8S368300. _Thensild

dp The Authorsty perfoems the functions of implementing its monetary policy mainly through open market
operations and enforcing Stautory Reserve Requirement under amicle 31 of MMA Act. Furher, the
Authority act as the banker to both commercial banks and government institutions, Government of
Maldives as a related party has a significant sharcholding in Bank of Maldives Ple. Please refer Note 13 for
the gross outstonding balances as a1 31 [December

€) Empowered by the article 4(c) of the MMA Act, the Financial Sector Division of the Autharity carries out
the regulatory and supervisory functions of the hanks licensed by the Authority. The Bank of Maklives Plc

which had been funded by the povernment and having a significant influence, falls under the supervision of
this division

,lf@r 2@ 1 '., 44



Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 20040

KL

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTION IMSCLOSURES (Continaed )

N The MNon-bank Fimancial Institwtions Supervision Section of the Authority carries out its regulatory and
supervisory funclions in respect of Non-banking Financial Instintions. Accordingly, the following related
enitities are under the supervision of the Authority, However, thene were no financial irensactions with these
parties during the years ending 31 December 2008 and 2009,

Allied Insurance Company of the Maldives
Housing Devebopment Finance Corporation Pl

£} As per anicke 22(f) of MMA Act, the Authority is vested with the function of public debt management.
Accordingly, as the agent of the government. the Public Debt Section (PD%) issucs sccurities to the
domestic market to mect the budgetary requirements and 1o ensure that financing needs of the government
and its prymsent obligations are met.

W} The Authority, in carrying oul the normal operations, enters imMo iransactions 1o obtain various goods and
services with governinenl enlitses or entities in which government has significant influence or contral
{Refer bo Mote 36.1 byl

i) Im the year 2009 the Authority provided two Emergency Funding Loans o Bank of Maldives Ple. (Refer 1o
Motes 36,1 {ak)

i Unsdier article 22 (h) of MMA Act the Authority provided short term boans 1o the government 1o lsance the
budget expenditure during the vears ended 31 Decenber 2009 and 2008 { Refer to Mote 361 (all

k} The Authority did not provide any guarantee over any of the borrowings of a related panty in the years
ending 31 December 2008 and 2009,

Transactions with key managerial personnel {present and former)

Key Managerial Personnel of the Authority are the members of the Board that includes Governor, Deputy
Liovernor [ The Authorily restricts such members' positions as director, officer, emplayee or sharchakder of
any banking institution. ) and other members of the Board. Panticulars of transactions with key managerial
persannel were as follows:

2N 2HIR
Hr R

Compensation to the key management personng 2,121,933 316,453




Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Wear emadod 31 December 2006

ar

LTA |

M1

a2

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value of linancial instraments

The fair value of a linancial instnements is the amoant for which an asset could be exchanged. or a
liahility setled, between knowledgeable, willimg pasties in an arms-lengih transsclion. When n
finamcial instrument is trmded in sn orgasised and liguid markel that is able to absorb o significns
transaciion withaul movisg the price against (b rader and the quoted markel vabues represent the [aie
wad .

Crrrency i circalaniog
The T vabue of currency in circalation is considered (o be iis [soe valee as reposted in (the Gsancial
LIl TR LR

Tuvestment fo flved depaoirs
The carryimg values of deposits ane considered 1o appeoximate heir Gair value as (bey ane payable os
i,

RETROSPFECTIVE RESTATEMENT OF ERRORS

Profin re-appropriation to the gverament from 2007 and 2008 net profit were accounsed as payahle i
31 December 207 and M08 respoctively.

Printing and manting costs of cumency mies and colis werne provisssly expensed when incurred, This
piicy has boen changed o expense the cost only whem curmency is isssed 1o circulation in scoordange
with TAS 2 - Invemiormics,

Fisrcign currency nsonclary asscls ane iranslabed using (he exchange rabe al ibe end of the reposting
perivad, any differences were previously laken o foreign asscis revaluation reserve. This palicy has
been ammended e comply with 1A% 21 - Effects of Chasges in Forcign Exchange Rales. Exchange
differences om Iramlation of monciary ssseis are now aken (o isoome stalement,

The expense incued on the Mobile Phone Banking Project were debited agains the inlesest bearing
loans, deferred pramt asd mo provisions were made for the payabiles as at 31 December 2008 To cosrect
ihis eamor, the amoenis that were previously debiied Trom inerest bearing loans and deferred prami has
Peen remswed and recorded &5 “other asscis- Mobike Phone Banking Project™. A peovision of R
A6, ML has been recosded for tbe payables as ai 31 Degember 2008

The limancial siatemenis of 2007 and 2005 have been restated 0 cormect the ahove changes. The oiToc
ol the restalemem on those linancial stalemenis is summanized below,

Effect an
31 Dec HWig
K
Incame statement before mljustment lin2 5, | 3b
{ Decmease ) in pralit for the year {3,838, 1 4
Incroase im imcome for the veas 5 BARUTE

Adjusted prolfin for the year 1 il il




Maldives Monciary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Yeai gided 31 December 2HH

X RETROSFECTIVE RESTATEMENT OF ERROES (continued)
Stutensent of fmnncial position
Decrvase in bocal currency linascial lighilities - Balances wilh povernient and
poreernmenial imstiputioes | Mole 35,1 )

Increase in Inventory- Currency nobes amd ooimns

Increase im relained carnbngs

Statement of inancial pesition

Decrease in local carmency lnancial Liabilities - Balances with governamgsl aml
g meiial instislions

Imicrease in redained »:u'lil@-:.

Decreasy in laventory- Camency noles and coins

Increase Inserest hearing lisiss

Increase Deiferred grants

Incrense in oaher payalbles

Inereass imother asseis - Mohile Phone ““'H“-l-'- |-"|'|'|J-|_;.|_'|

Effect an
M Dec 2iW?
()

(195,773,213

23955112
219,728,325
EMect vn
51 e s
K
{146, T40,0 200
T46,T40,1 21
(1.H38,134)
R12,n53
S e WL
ELR I

ARMBET

_ﬁ_x
S8
F3
A
54
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 Decensher HE

.z

COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

The presemation and classifcation of following ilems in these lnancial statements are amended G ensene
comparnhility with the currenl yoar,

Mher receivables and Other assels

Z2iHxH
A reporied proviously: RI
(hiher assels
Sundry nssels 35540544
20 200y
Current prosentition: RI Rr
Forvign currency limancial pssets
(hher receivables 11,912 14,504
IMF relatesd assets G0 K34 2301 dis
111,73 2HHE0
Lawal currency finnncial asseis
Interest amd aither receivables - 28 M) 872

Lacal currency non-financial asseis
(ther assels 2014340 -I'agl."il?il.?
—ee——

Interest receivables on Holding of SDR'S, forcign bank balances, loans w government and other assels
presented as sumdry assets in the last year linancial stastements, have boen adjusied 1o confirm with changes
in presentation in the curment vear,

Interest hearing boans

20is
As peportel previously: RF
ilher liabilities - Miscellancous liabilities
ITMA et aceoain| —rLLI65
ZiiF iy
Foreign currency finoncial labiliiy RF (1}
Interest henring loams 31601955 3EXS HK)

A loan from the Ministry of Finance and Treasury, which has been classified as other lishility in the 2008
financial statements has heen adjusied 10 confirm with changes in preseniation in the current vear,

48




Maldives Monetary Authority
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Yizar ended 31 December 2K

39 COMPARATIVE INFORMATION (Continued)

395 (ber labilitics

Mg
As reporied previously: Rr
(M her linhilities < Miscellineomes labilitics
COGAR grant | 55 990}
il g
(M her liabilities K’ 1)
Dwferred gramis Taaz 49 3,877,049

T'he Authority s received a grant from Cossultative Group o Assist the Poor (CGAP) and this has been
chassalied under other liability in the last vear Anancial statements. Accordingly the grant has been presenied
as delferred graml im the current year limancial stalemenis,

M4 IMF related liabilities and [eposits by international financial institatisns

ELLLL ]
A reported previowsly: BRI
Fareign corrency financinl linhility
Imiernational Nimancial institsns M2 3075400
Loans fmom fereign institutes SOA5TAM1
el S4640
2o ooy
Currend presentation: RF R
Forcign currency fimuncial linhility
Dheposits by inbernational lnancial instinsions AEE,TTS fEl 174
IMF relaved linhilities 2206, 107, K3 242 253 358
T
Laecal currency fimancial liability
Deposits by imiernadional financial instinsims Li,ﬁ.'!-“l‘ﬁ-l? 11]!.‘:EI.52?

al Forcign currency purchases from IMF has been classified as loans from [oreign institations in the vear 20068
fimancial statements. This has been presented as pavables o IMF in the cusrent year financial stalements.

by IMF related liabilities which were prescated under intermational financial institutions, ogether with
Intcriational Bank for Reconstruciion and Development (IBRIY), Asian Development Bank (ADE) and
Mullateral Investment Guaramee Agency (MIGA), are presented separately as IMF related liabilitics and
Lhe comparative infisrmition has been adjusted w conform with curment vear presentation,

b The deposits collected on behall of International Gnancial instiisions , in Maldivian Rufivaa, are classified
as * local currency financial liahility - deposits by incmational financial instituions” in the curment year
financial statemcnts and the comparative information has een adjusted 1o confirm with current year
presentalion.




Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2066

A9

305

M

COMPARATIVE INFORMATION (Continued)

Balances with government amd govermmeni insiftutions - Local currency Tinancial liability

2iHH

As reported previowsly: RF
Oither lealsilities - Miscellineoas linhilities
Local currency cheques issued and outstanding 1,765,794
Demand abilitics local currency
Dreposits by governmenl ITHh 843,113
Covernment alfices I8 112933
Anlls TAII66]

20 2
Current presentalion: K Hr
Local currency financial labiliiy
Halances with government and government institulions 62K,961 622 613,545,506

|']I-Ifi1lg b year givernment institdion balances and Aiolls acoousis were transferred Public Bank Accoant,
Therelore, the comparatives ligures were changed accordingly.

Balinces with government and government institutions - Foreign corrency financial labiliiy

g

As reported previously: Rr
iher liabilities « Miscellaneous liahilities
Forcign currency chegues issucd and ouistanding 01928
MOFT - sunami AC 46, 7T2.543
MOFT-AIM Teap Grant Imprest AC 1 242
MOFT-Strengthening of Frocurement Begulaiory frame work fal1.293
Imiprest ADB Loan 400711, 858
Workd Bank-pension refisrm and SPA project 165,347
Maldives environmental management project TR
Dremmamd linbilities - forcign carrency
Crvernmenl offices- 6] 4L

Qi 2
Curreni presentation: RF RF
Foreign curvency financial liability
Halances with government and govermment institutions 120,951,724 L 16,182,265

The deposil aceounts of Mindsiry of Finance and Treasury (MOFT) and ather governmental instittions
which were previcusly classilicd as other linhilities are presented under Balances with government and
governmen instilutions. amd the comparative information has been asdjusted 10 conlirm with current vear
prescnlaiim




Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2009

40

4.1

4.2

40.3

41

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Crmaramices

Under Section 22 (1) the Authority bas power 1o give guaraniee for the repayment of government laans.
However, the Awhority has not provided amy guarantees as a1 31 December 2009

Fidugiary activities

Uner Section 22 of MMA Act the Awthority carries out fiduciary aciivities such as holding government
funds and working os o fiscal agent for the govemment in its dealings with International Financial
Institutions. However, the Authority does not expect any liabilitics to arise from such activities,

Legal Claims
Ihiere are mo ongoing legal proceedings against the Authority as of 31 December 2000,
Commitmenis

O request of the Ministry of Finance Treasury with reference to the loan agreements signed between the
Government of the Republic of Maldives and the Islamic Development Bank, the Maldives Monelary
Authority undertakes 1o provide the foreign exchange required Lo repay the loans inclusive of service fees
at such times as repayment installments and service fees fall due. This is in consideration with the counter
guaraniee that the Ministry of Finance and Treasury on bebalf of the Govermmeni of the Republic of
Maldives undertakies to pay the Maldives Monetary Authority the Rufivaa coumterpant funds for the
aforesaid payments

Except for the shove mentioned MMA does not have amy signilicant capital commitments.

EVENTS OCCURRING SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE SHEET DATE

O 19th January 2000, The President’s (HTice authorized (o increase the Authorily's capital by iransferring
Rufiyaa 49 million from the retained eamings of the Amhority. The balance of retained camings wis
returned 1o Ministry of Finance and Treasury, Therefore, the retainesd eamings of KT 142 900 300 has now
been nullified and the Authority’s capital has boen increased 1o I 50,000,000/-




